# EQUIVARIANT CHARACTERISTIC CLASSES OF EXTERNAL AND SYMMETRIC PRODUCTS OF VARIETIES

# LAURENŢIU MAXIM AND JÖRG SCHÜRMANN

ABSTRACT. We obtain refined generating series formulae for equivariant characteristic classes of external and symmetric products of singular complex quasi-projective varieties. More concretely, we study equivariant versions of Todd, Chern and Hirzebruch classes for singular spaces, with values in delocalized Borel-Moore homology of external and symmetric products. As a byproduct, we recover our previous characteristic class formulae for symmetric products and obtain new equivariant generalizations of these results, in particular also in the context of twisting by representations of the symmetric group.

#### Contents

1. Introduction	1
1.1. Equivariant characteristic classes	2
1.2. Generating series formulae	4
1.3. Twisting by $\Sigma_n$ -representations	8
2. Delocalized equivariant theories	10
2.1. Compatibilities with cross-product	12
3. Generating series for symmetric group actions on external products	13
3.1. Examples	16
4. (Equivariant) Pontrjagin rings for symmetric products	19
4.1. Example: Contructible functions and Orbifold Chern classes	21
5. Generating series for (equivariant) characteristic classes	22
5.1. Characteristic classes of Lefschetz type	22
5.2. Delocalized equivariant characteristic classes	26
5.3. Generating series for (equivariant) characteristic classes	28
References	32

## 1. Introduction

In this paper, we obtain refined generating series formulae for equivariant characteristic classes of external and symmetric products of singular complex quasi-projective varieties, generalizing our previous results for symmetric products from [9].

Date: February 24, 2016.

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. 55S15, 20C30, 57R20.

Key words and phrases. characteristic classes, orbifold classes, Hirzebruch- and Lefschetz-Riemann-Roch, external and symmetric products of varieties, generating series, representations of symmetric groups.

1.1. Equivariant characteristic classes. All spaces in this paper are assumed to be complex quasiprojective, though many constructions also apply to other categories of spaces with a finite group action (e.g., compact complex analytic manifolds or varieties over any base field of characteristic zero). For such a variety X, consider an algebraic action  $G \times X \to X$  by a finite group G, with quotient map  $\pi: X \to X' := X/G$ . For any  $g \in G$ , we let  $X^g$  denote the corresponding fixed point set.

We let  $cat^G(X)$  be a category of G-equivariant objects on X in the underlying category cat(X) (e.g., see [8, 20]), which in this paper refers to one of the following examples: coherent sheaves Coh(X), algebraically constructible sheaves of complex vector spaces Constr(X), and (algebraic) mixed Hodge modules MHM(X) on X. We denote by  $K_0(cat^G(X))$  the corresponding Grothendieck groups of these  $\mathbb Q$ -linear abelian categories. We will also work with the relative Grothendieck group  $K_0^G(var/X)$  of G-equivariant quasi-projective varieties over X, defined by using the scissor relation as in [8]. Let  $H_*(X)$  denote the even degree Borel-Moore homology  $H_{ev}^{BM}(X) \otimes R$  with coefficients in a commutative  $\mathbb C$ -algebra R (resp.  $\mathbb Q$ -algebra if G is a symmetric group). Note that  $H_*(-)$  is functorial for all proper maps, with a compatible cross-product  $\boxtimes$ .

Let

$$cl_*(-;g): K_0(cat^G(X)) \to H_*(X^g)$$

be one of the following *equivariant characteristic class transformation of Lefschetz type*, see Section 5.1:

(1) the Lefschetz-Riemann-Roch transformation of Baum-Fulton-Quart [4] and Moonen [23]:

$$td_*(-;g): K_0(\operatorname{Coh}^G(X)) \longrightarrow H_*(X^g),$$

with  $R = \mathbb{C}$  (resp.  $R = \mathbb{Q}$  if G is a symmetric group).

(2) the localized Chern class transformation [28]:

$$c_*(-;g): K_0(Constr^G(X)) \longrightarrow H_*(X^g),$$

with  $R = \mathbb{C}$  (resp.  $R = \mathbb{Q}$  if G is a symmetric group).

(3) the motivic version of the (un-normalized) Atiyah-Singer class transformation [8]:

$$T_{y*}(-;g): K_0^G(var/X) \longrightarrow H_*(X^g),$$

with  $R = \mathbb{C}[y]$  (resp.  $R = \mathbb{Q}[y]$  if G is a symmetric group).

(4) the mixed Hodge module version of the (un-normalized) Atiyah-Singer class transformation [8]:

$$T_{y*}(-;g):K_0(MHM^G(X))\longrightarrow H_*(X^g),$$

with  $R=\mathbb{C}[y^{\pm 1}]$  (resp.  $R=\mathbb{Q}[y^{\pm 1}]$  if G is a symmetric group).

These class transformations are covariant functorial for G-equivariant proper maps and cross-products  $\boxtimes$ . Over a point space, they reduce to a certain g-trace (as explained in Section 5.1). For a subgroup K of G, with  $g \in K$ , these transformations  $cl_*(-;g)$  of Lefschetz type commute with the obvious restriction functor  $\mathrm{Res}_K^G$ . Moreover,  $cl_*(-;g)$  depends only on the action of the cyclic subgroup generated by g. In particular, if  $g = id_G$  is the identity of G, we can take K the identity subgroup  $\{id_G\}$  with  $\mathrm{Res}_K^G$  the forgetful functor

For: 
$$K_0(cat^G(X)) \to K_0(cat(X)),$$

so that  $cl_*(-;id_G)=cl_*(-)$  fits with a corresponding non-equivariant characteristic class, which in the above examples are:

- (1) the Todd class transformation  $td_*$  of Baum-Fulton-MacPherson [3] appearing in the Riemann-Roch theorem for singular varieties.
- (2) the MacPherson-Chern class transformation  $c_*$  [18].
- (3) the motivic version of the (un-normalized) Hirzebruch class transformation  $T_{y*}$  of [5].
- (4) the mixed Hodge module version of the (un-normalized) Hirzebruch class transformation  $T_{y*}$  of [5], see also [29].

The disjoint union  $\bigsqcup_{g\in G} X^g$  admits an induced G-action by  $h:X^g\to X^{hgh^{-1}}$ , such that the canonical map

$$i: \bigsqcup_{g \in G} X^g \to X$$

defined by the inclusions of fixed point sets becomes G-equivariant. Therefore, G acts in a natural way on  $\bigoplus_{g \in G} H_*(X^g)$  by conjugation.

**Definition 1.1.** The (delocalized) G-equivariant homology of X is the G-invariant subgroup

(1) 
$$H_*^G(X) := \left(\bigoplus_{g \in G} H_*(X^g)\right)^G.$$

This theory is functorial for proper G-maps and induced cross-products  $\boxtimes$ .

This notion is different (except for free actions) from the equivariant Borel-Moore homology  $H^G_{BM,2*}(X)\otimes R$  defined by the Borel construction. In fact, since G is finite and R is a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra, one has

(2) 
$$H_{BM,2*}^G(X) \otimes R \simeq \left(H_{2*}^{BM}(X) \otimes R\right)^G \simeq H_{2*}^{BM}(X/G) \otimes R,$$

which is just a direct summand of  $H_*^G(X)$  corresponding to the identity element of G, denoted by  $H_{id,*}^G(X)$ . For example, if G acts trivially on X (e.g., X is a point), then

$$H_*^G(X) \cong H_*(X) \otimes C(G),$$

where C(G) denotes the free abelian group of  $\mathbb{Z}$ -valued class functions on G (i.e., functions which are constant on the conjugacy classes of G).

**Definition 1.2.** For any of the Lefschetz-type characteristic class transformations  $cl_*(-;g)$  considered above, we define a corresponding G-equivariant class transformation

$$cl_*^G: K_0(cat^G(X)) \to H_*^G(X)$$

by:

$$cl_*^G(-) := \bigoplus_{g \in G} cl_*(-;g) \in \left(\bigoplus_{g \in G} H_*(X^g)\right)^G.$$

The G-invariance of the class  $cl_*^G(-)$  is a consequence of *conjugacy invariance* of the Lefschetz-type characteristic class  $cl_*(-;g)$ , see [8][Sect.5.3]. Note that the summand  $cl_*(-;id) \in (H_*(X))^G$  corresponding to the identity element of G is just the non-equivariant characteristic class, which for equivariant coefficients is invariant under the G-action by functoriality. Under the identification (2), this class also agrees (for our finite group G) with the corresponding (naive) equivariant characteristic

class defined in terms of the Borel construction, e.g., for  $cl_* = td_*$ , this is the equivariant Riemann-Roch-Transformation of Edidin-Graham [11]; and for  $cl_* = c_*$ , this is the equivariant Chern class transformation of Ohmoto [25, 26].

The above transformation  $cl_*^G(-)$  has the same properties as the Lefschetz-type transformations  $cl_*(-;g)$ , e.g., functoriality for proper push-downs, restrictions to subgroups, and multiplicativity for exterior products.

1.2. Generating series formulae. Let now Z be a quasi-projective variety, and denote by  $Z^{(n)}:=Z^n/\Sigma_n$  its n-th symmetric product (i.e., the quotient of  $Z^n$  by the natural permutation action of the symmetric group  $\Sigma_n$  on n elements), with  $\pi_n:Z^n\to Z^{(n)}$  the natural projection map. The standard approach for computing invariants of the symmetric products  $Z^{(n)}$  is to collect the respective invariants of all symmetric products in a generating series, and then compute the latter solely in terms of invariants of Z, e.g., see [9] and the references therein. In this paper, we obtain generalizations of results of [9], formulated in terms of equivariant characteristic classes of external products and resp., symmetric products of varieties.

To a given object  $\mathcal{F} \in cat(Z)$  in a category as above, i.e., coherent or constructible sheaves, or mixed Hodge modules on Z (resp., morphisms  $f:Y\to Z$  in the motivic context), we attach new objects as follows (see Section 5.3 for details):

- (a) the  $\Sigma_n$ -equivariant object  $\mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes n} \in cat^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n)$  on the cartesian product  $Z^n$  (e.g.,  $f^n: Y^n \to Z^n$  in the motivic context).
- (b) the  $\Sigma_n$ -equivariant object  $\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}\in cat^{\Sigma_n}(Z^{(n)})$  on the symmetric product  $Z^{(n)}$  (e.g., the  $\Sigma_n$ -equivariant map  $Y^n\to Z^{(n)}$  in the motivic context).
- (c) the following non-equivariant objects in  $cat(Z^{(n)})$ :
  - (1) the n-th symmetric power object  $\mathcal{F}^{(n)}:=\left(\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}\right)^{\Sigma_n}$  on  $Z^{(n)}$ , defined by using the projector  $(-)^{\Sigma_n}$  onto the  $\Sigma_n$ -invariant part (respectively, the map  $f^{(n)}:Y^{(n)}\to Z^{(n)}$  induced by dividing out the  $\Sigma_n$ -action in the motivic context).
  - (2) the n-th alternating power object  $\mathcal{F}^{\{n\}}:=\left(\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}\right)^{sign-\Sigma_{n}}$  on  $Z^{(n)}$ , defined by using the alternating projector  $(-)^{sign-\Sigma_{n}}$  onto the sign-invariant part. (This construction does not apply in the motivic context.)
  - (3)  $For(\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n})$ , obtained by forgetting the  $\Sigma_n$ -action on  $\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}\in cat^{\Sigma_n}(Z^{(n)})$  (e.g., the induced map  $Y^n\to Z^{(n)}$  in the motivic context).

These constructions and all of the following results also apply to suitable bounded complexes (e.g., the constant Hodge module complex  $\mathbb{Q}_Z^H$ ), see Remark 5.11 for details.

The main goal of this paper is to compute generating series formulae for the (equivariant) characteristic classes of these new coefficients only in terms of the original characteristic class  $cl_*(\mathcal{F})$ . These generating series take values in a corresponding commutative graded  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra  $\mathbb{H}^\Sigma_*(Z)$ ,  $\mathbb{PH}^\Sigma_*(Z)$  and resp.  $\mathbb{PH}_*(Z)$ , and are formulated with the help of certain operators which transport homology classes from Z into these corresponding commutative graded  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebras. In each of three situations (a)-(c) above, these algebras of Pontrjagin type and operators are described explicitly as follows:

(a)

$$\mathbb{H}_*^{\Sigma}(Z) := \bigoplus_{n \ge 0} H_*^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n) \cdot t^n,$$

with creation operator  $a_r$  defined by: if  $\sigma_r = (r)$  is an r-cycle in  $\Sigma_r$ , then  $a_r$  is the composition:

$$\mathfrak{a}_r: H_*(Z) \stackrel{\cdot r}{\to} H_*(Z) \cong H_*((Z^r)^{\sigma_r})^{Z_{\Sigma_r}(\sigma_r)} \hookrightarrow H_*^{\Sigma_r}(Z^r),$$

where  $\langle \sigma_r \rangle = Z_{\Sigma_r}(\sigma_r)$  acts trivially on  $H_*((Z^r)^{\sigma_r})$ .

Note that the direct summand

$$\mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}_{id,*}(Z) := \bigoplus_{n \geq 0} H^{\Sigma_n}_{id,*}(Z^n) \cdot t^n \subset \mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}_*(Z)$$

corresponding to the identity component is a subring, and the projection of  $\mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}_{*}(Z)$  onto the subring  $\mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}_{id,*}(Z)$  kills all the creation operators except  $\mathfrak{a}_1=id_{H_*(Z)}.$ 

(b)

$$\mathbb{P}\mathbb{H}_{*}^{\Sigma}(Z) := \bigoplus_{n \geq 0} H_{*}^{\Sigma_{n}}(Z^{(n)}) \cdot t^{n}$$
$$\simeq \bigoplus_{n \geq 0} \left( H_{*}(Z^{(n)}) \otimes C(\Sigma_{n}) \right) \cdot t^{n} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}\mathbb{H}_{*}(Z) \otimes \mathbb{Q}[p_{i} \mid i \geq 1],$$

with corresponding operator  $p_r \cdot d_{r*}: H_*(Z) \to H_*(Z^{(r)}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}[p_i, i \geq 1]$ , where  $d_r:=$  $\pi_r \circ \Delta_r: Z o Z^{(r)}$  is the composition of the natural projection  $\pi_r: Z^r o Z^{(r)}$  with the diagonal embedding  $\Delta_r: Z \to Z^r$ . The algebra inclusion above is induced from the Frobenius character

$$ch_F: C(\Sigma) \otimes \mathbb{Q} := \bigoplus_n C(\Sigma_n) \otimes \mathbb{Q} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{Q}[p_i, i \geq 1] =: \Lambda \otimes \mathbb{Q}$$

to the graded ring of  $\mathbb{Q}$ -valued symmetric functions in infinitely many variables  $x_m$   $(m\in\mathbb{N})$ , with  $p_i:=\sum_m x_m^i$  the i-th power sum function, see [16][Ch.I,Sect.7], and  $\mathbb{PH}_*(Z)$  defined as below.

(c)

$$\mathbb{PH}_*(Z) := \bigoplus_{n \geq 0} H_*(Z^{(n)}) \cdot t^n,$$

with corresponding operator  $d_{r*}: H_*(Z) \to H_*(Z^{(r)})$ .

Moreover, the creation operator  $a_r$  satisfies the identity:

$$\pi_{r*} \circ \mathfrak{a}_r = p_r \cdot d_{r*}$$

justifying the multiplication by r in its definition.

The main characteristic class formula of this paper is contained in:

**Theorem 1.3.** The following generating series formula holds in the commutative graded Q-algebra  $\mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}_*(Z) := \bigoplus_{n>0} H^{\Sigma_n}_*(Z^n) \cdot t^n$ , if  $cl_*$  is either  $td_*$ ,  $c_*$  or  $T_{-y*}$ :

(3) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} cl_*^{\Sigma_n}(\mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes n}) \cdot t^n = \exp\left(\sum_{r\geq 1} \mathfrak{a}_r(\Psi_r(cl_*(\mathfrak{F})) \cdot \frac{t^r}{r}\right),$$

where  $\Psi_r$  denotes the homological Adams operation defined by

$$\Psi_r = \begin{cases} id & \text{if } cl_* = c_* \\ \frac{1}{r^i} \text{ on } H^{BM}_{2i}(Z) \otimes \mathbb{Q} & \text{if } cl_* = td_* \\ \frac{1}{r^i} \text{ on } H^{BM}_{2i}(Z) \otimes \mathbb{Q}, \text{ and } y \mapsto y^r & \text{if } cl_* = T_{-y*}. \end{cases}$$

In particular, by projecting onto the identity component, we get

(4) 
$$\sum_{n>0} cl_*(\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}; id) \cdot t^n = \exp\left(t \cdot cl_*(\mathcal{F})\right) \in \mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}_{id,*}(Z).$$

For the rest of this Introduction,  $cl_*$  denotes any of the classes  $td_*$ ,  $c_*$  or  $T_{-y*}$ . The proof of Theorem 1.3 is purely formal, based on the multiplicativity and conjugacy invariance of the Lefschetz-type claracteristic classes  $cl_*(-;g)$ , together with the following key *localization* formula from [9][Lemma 3.3, Lemma 3.6, Lemma 3.10]:

$$cl_*(\mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes r}; \sigma_r) = \Psi_r cl_*(\mathfrak{F}),$$

under the identication  $(Z^r)^{\sigma_r} \simeq Z$ . For this localization formula in the context of Hirzebruch classes, it is important to work with the parameter -y and the un-normalized versions of Hirzebruch classes and their respective equivariant analogues, see [9]. In fact, formula (3) is a special case of an abstract generating series formula (35), which holds for any functor H (covariant for isomorphisms) with a compatible commutative, associative cross-product  $\boxtimes$ , with a unit  $1_{pt} \in H(pt)$ . The above-mentioned abstract formula (35) codifies the combinatorics of the action of the symmetric groups  $\Sigma_n$ , and it should be regarded as a far-reaching generalization of the well-known identity of symmetric functions (e.g., see the proof of [16][(2.14)]):

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} h_n t^n = \exp\left(\sum_{r\geq 1} p_r \cdot \frac{t^r}{r}\right),\,$$

with  $h_n$  the n-th complete symmetric function. Other applications of the abstract generating series formula (35) in the framework of orbifold cohomology and, resp., localized K-theory are explained in Section 3.1. In this way, we reprove and generalize some results from [27] and, resp., [30]. Moreover, in Section 4, we give another application of (35) to canonical constructible functions and orbifold-type Chern classes of symmetric products, reproving some results of Ohmoto [26].

Remark 1.4. In the motivic context, the exponentiation map

(5) 
$$K_0(var/Z) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{n \ge 0} K_0^{\Sigma_n}(var/Z^n) \cdot t^n, \ [f:X \to Z] \mapsto \sum_{n \ge 0} [f^n:X^n \to Z^n] \cdot t^n$$

is well-defined as in [6], and should be regarded as an equivariant analogue of the (relative) Kapranov zeta function used in [9, 20]. In fact, the latter can be recovered from (5) by pushing down to the symmetric products (resp. to a point), and taking the quotients by the  $\Sigma_n$ -action.

By pushing formula (3) down to the symmetric products, we obtain by functorially the following result:

**Corollary 1.5.** The following generating series formula holds in the commutative graded  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra  $\mathbb{PH}^{\Sigma}_*(Z) := \bigoplus_{n \geq 0} H^{\Sigma_n}_*(Z^{(n)}) \cdot t^n \hookrightarrow \mathbb{PH}_*(Z) \otimes \mathbb{Q}[p_i, i \geq 1]$ :

(6) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} cl_*^{\Sigma_n}(\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}) \cdot t^n = \exp\left(\sum_{r\geq 1} p_r \cdot d_{r*}(\psi_r(cl_*(\mathcal{F})) \cdot \frac{t^r}{r}\right).$$

This should be regarded as a characteristic class version of [12][Prop.5.4]. In particular, if Z is projective, then by taking degrees, we get in Section 5.3 generating series formulae for the characters

of virtual  $\Sigma_n$ -representations of  $H^*(Z^n; \mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n})$ , that is,

(7) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} tr_{\Sigma_n}(Z^n; \mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}) \cdot t^n = \exp\left(\sum_{r\geq 1} p_r \cdot \chi(H^*(Z, \mathcal{F})) \cdot \frac{t^r}{r}\right) \in \mathbb{Q}[p_i, i \geq 1][[t]],$$

for  $\mathcal F$  a coherent or constructible sheaf and with  $\chi$  denoting the corresponding Euler characteristic, respectively,

(8) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} tr_{\Sigma_n}(Z^n; \mathcal{M}^{\boxtimes n}) \cdot t^n = \exp\left(\sum_{r\geq 1} p_r \cdot \chi_{-y^r}(H^*(Z, \mathcal{M})) \cdot \frac{t^r}{r}\right) \in \mathbb{Q}[y^{\pm 1}, p_i, i \geq 1][[t]],$$

for  $\mathcal{M}$  a mixed Hodge module on Z, and with  $\chi_y(H^*(Z,\mathcal{M}))$  the corresponding  $\chi_y$ -polynomial.

By specializing all the  $p_i$ 's to the value 1 (which corresponds to the use of the projectors  $(-)^{\Sigma_n}$ ), formula (6) reduces to the main result of [9], namely:

**Corollary 1.6.** The following generating series formula holds in the Pontrjagin ring  $\mathbb{PH}_*(Z) := \bigoplus_{n>0} H_*(Z^{(n)}) \cdot t^n$ :

(9) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} cl_*(\mathcal{F}^{(n)}) \cdot t^n = \exp\left(\sum_{r\geq 1} d_{r*}(\psi_r(cl_*(\mathcal{F})) \cdot \frac{t^r}{r}\right).$$

In particular, if Z is projective, we recover the degree formulae from [9], which can now be also derived from (7) and (8) by specializing all  $p_i$ 's to 1.

Corollary 1.5 also has other important applications. For example, by specializing the  $p_i$ 's to the value  $sign(\sigma_i)=(-1)^{i-1}$  (which corresponds to the use of the alternating projectors  $(-)^{sign-\Sigma_n}$ ), formula (6) reduces to:

**Corollary 1.7.** The following generating series formula holds in the Pontrjagin ring  $\mathbb{PH}_*(Z)$ :

(10) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} cl_*(\mathcal{F}^{\{n\}}) \cdot t^n = \exp\left(-\sum_{r\geq 1} d_{r*}(\psi_r(cl_*(\mathcal{F})) \cdot \frac{(-t)^r}{r}\right).$$

In particular, if Z is projective, we recover special cases of the main formulae from [20][Cor.1.5], which can now be also derived from (7) and (8) by specializing the  $p_i$ 's to  $(-1)^{i-1}$ . For example, if  $cl_* = T_{-y*}$  and  $\mathcal{F} = \mathbb{Q}_Z^H$ , we recover the generating series formula for the degrees

$$deg(T_{-y*}(\mathbb{Q}_Z^{H^{\{n\}}})) = \chi_{-y}([H_c^*(B(Z,n),\epsilon_n)]),$$

where  $B(Z,n)\subset Z^{(n)}$  is the *configuration space* of unordered n-tuples of distinct points in Z, and  $\epsilon_n$  is the rank-one local system on B(Z,n) corresponding to a sign representation of  $\pi_1(B(Z,n))$  as in [20][p.293], compare also with [13][Ex.3b] and [12][Cor.5.7].

Note also that the specialization  $p_1 \mapsto 1$  and  $p_i \mapsto 0$  for all  $i \geq 2$ , corresponds to the evaluation homomorphisms (for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ )

$$\frac{1}{n!}ev_{id} = \frac{1}{n!}\operatorname{Res}_{id}^{\Sigma_n} : H_*^{\Sigma_n}(Z^{(n)}) \longrightarrow H_*(Z^{(n)}).$$

Then Corollary 1.5 specializes to the following result:

**Corollary 1.8.** The following exponential generating series formula holds in the Pontrjagin ring  $\mathbb{PH}_*(Z)$ :

(11) 
$$\sum_{n>0} cl_*(For(\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n})) \cdot \frac{t^n}{n!} = \exp\left(t \cdot cl_*(\mathcal{F})\right).$$

The above corollary also follows from formula (4), after a suitable renormalization of the product structure of  $\mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}_{id,*}(Z)$  in order to make the pushforward  $\pi_* := \oplus \pi_{n,*} : \mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}_{id,*}(Z) \to \mathbb{PH}_*(Z)$  into a ring homomorphism, see Section 4 for details.

In particular, if Z is projective, by taking degrees we get exponential generating series formulae for the Euler characteristic and resp.  $\chi_y$ -polynomial of  $H^*(Z^n, \mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes})$ . For example, if  $cl_* = T_{-y*}$  and  $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{M}$  is a mixed Hodge module on Z, we get:

(12) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} \chi_{-y}(Z^n, \mathfrak{M}^{\boxtimes n}) \cdot \frac{t^n}{n!} = \exp\Big(t \cdot \chi_{-y}(Z, \mathfrak{M})\Big),$$

which also follows directly from the Künneth formula, e.g., see [19].

1.3. Twisting by  $\Sigma_n$ -representations. Additionally, for a fixed n, one can consider the coefficient of  $t^n$  in the generating series (3) for the (equivariant) characteristic classes of all exterior powers  $\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n} \in cat^{\Sigma_n}(\mathbb{Z}^n)$ . Moreover, in this case, one can twist the equivariant coefficients  $\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}$  by a (finite-dimensional) rational  $\Sigma_n$ -representation V, and compute the corresponding equivariant characteristic classes of Lefschetz-type (see Remark 5.3)

(13) 
$$cl_*(V \otimes \mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}; \sigma) = trace_{\sigma}(V) \cdot cl_*(\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}; \sigma),$$

for  $\sigma \in \Sigma_n$ . By pushing down to the symmetric product  $Z^{(n)}$  along the natural map  $\pi_n : Z^n \to Z^{(n)}$ , we then get by the projection formula the following identity in

$$H_*^{\Sigma_n}(Z^{(n)}) \cong H_*(Z^{(n)}) \otimes C(\Sigma_n) \hookrightarrow H_*(Z^{(n)}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}[p_i, i \ge 1]:$$

(14) 
$$cl_*^{\Sigma_n}(\pi_{n*}(V \otimes \mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n})) = \sum_{\lambda = (k_1, k_2, \dots) \dashv n} \frac{p_\lambda}{z_\lambda} \chi_\lambda(V) \cdot \bigodot_{r \geq 1} (d_{r*}(\psi_r(cl_*(\mathcal{F}))))^{k_r}.$$

Here, for a partition  $\lambda=(k_1,k_2,\cdots)$  of n corresponding to a conjugacy class of an element  $\sigma\in\Sigma_n$  (i.e.,  $\sum_r rk_r=n$ ), we denote by  $z_\lambda:=\prod_{r\geq 1} r^{k_r}\cdot k_r!$  the order of the stabilizer of  $\sigma$ , by  $\chi_\lambda(V)=trace_\sigma(V)$  the corresponding trace, and we set  $p_\lambda:=\prod_{r\geq 1} p_r^{k_r}$ . If Z is projective, by taking the degree in formula (14), we have the following character formulae generalizing (7) and (8):

(i) for  $\mathcal{F}$  a coherent or constructible sheaf, we get

(15) 
$$tr_{\Sigma_n}(H^*(Z^n; V \otimes \mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n})) = \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \frac{p_{\lambda}}{z_{\lambda}} \chi_{\lambda}(V) \cdot \chi(H^*(Z; \mathcal{F}))^{\ell(\lambda)},$$

with  $\chi$  denoting the corresponding Euler characteristic, and for a partition  $\lambda=(k_1,k_2,\cdots)$  of n we let  $\ell(\lambda):=k_1+k_2+\cdots$  be the length of  $\lambda$ ;

(ii) for  $\mathcal{M}$  a mixed Hodge module on Z, we get:

(16) 
$$tr_{\Sigma_n}(H^*(Z^n; V \otimes \mathcal{M}^{\boxtimes n})) = \sum_{\lambda = (k_1, k_2, \dots) \dashv n} \frac{p_{\lambda}}{z_{\lambda}} \chi_{\lambda}(V) \cdot \prod_{r \geq 1} \left( \chi_{-y^r}(H^*(Z; \mathcal{M})) \right)^{k_r},$$

with  $\chi_y(H^*(Z,\mathcal{M}))$  the corresponding  $\chi_y$ -polynomial.

Formula (14) is a generalization of Corollary 1.5, which one gets back for V the trivial representation. Furthermore, by specializing all the  $p_i$ 's in equation (14) to the value 1 (which corresponds to the use of the projectors  $(-)^{\sum_n}$ ), one obtains the following identity in  $H_*(Z^{(n)})$ :

$$(17) cl_*((\pi_{n*}(V \otimes \mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}))^{\Sigma_n}) = \sum_{\lambda = (k_1, k_2, \dots) \dashv n} \frac{1}{z_\lambda} \chi_{\lambda}(V) \cdot \bigodot_{r \geq 1} (d_{r*}(\psi_r(cl_*(\mathcal{F})))^{k_r}.$$

Note that by letting V be the trivial (resp. sign) representation, formula (17) reduces to Corollary 1.6 (resp. Corollary 1.7). Another important special case of (17) is obtained by choosing  $V = \operatorname{Ind}_K^{\Sigma_n}(triv)$ , the representation induced from the trivial representation of a subgroup K of  $\Sigma_n$ , with

$$(\pi_{n*}(V \otimes \mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes n}))^{\Sigma_n} \simeq (\operatorname{Ind}_K^{\Sigma_n}(triv) \otimes \pi_{n*}(\mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes n}))^{\Sigma_n} \simeq (\pi_{n*}(\mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes n}))^K \simeq \pi'_*\left((\pi_*(\mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes n}))^K\right).$$

Here  $\pi: Z^n \longrightarrow Z^n/K$  and  $\pi': Z^n/K \to Z^{(n)}$  are the projections factoring  $\pi_n$ . In this case, formula (17) calculates the characteristic class

$$cl_*((\pi_{n*}(\mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes n}))^K) = \pi'_*cl_*((\pi_*(\mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes n}))^K).$$

In particular, if Z is projective and we consider the constant Hodge module  $\mathcal{F}=\mathbb{Q}_Z^H$ , we get at the degree level the following formula for the  $\chi_y$ -polynomial of the quotient  $Z^n/K$ .

(18) 
$$\chi_{-y}(Z^n/K) = \sum_{\lambda = (k_1, k_2, \dots) + n} \frac{1}{z_{\lambda}} \chi_{\lambda}(\operatorname{Ind}_{K}^{\Sigma_n}(triv)) \cdot \prod_{r \ge 1} \chi_{-y^r}(Z)^{k_r}.$$

The corresponding Euler characteristic formula, obtained for y = 1, is also a special case of Macdonald's formula for the corresponding Poincaré polynomial ([17][p.567]).

Finally, by letting  $V=V_{\mu}\simeq V_{\mu}^*$  be the (self-dual) irreducible representation of  $\Sigma_n$  corresponding to a partition  $\mu$  of n, the coefficients

$$(\pi_{n*}(V_{\mu}\otimes \mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes n}))^{\Sigma_n} \simeq (V_{\mu}\otimes \pi_{n*}(\mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes n}))^{\Sigma_n} =: S_{\mu}(\pi_{n*}\mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes n})$$

of the left-hand side of (17) calculate the corresponding Schur functor of  $\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}\in cat^{\Sigma_n}(Z^{(n)})$ , with

(19) 
$$\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n} \simeq \sum_{\mu \vdash n} V_{\mu} \otimes S_{\mu}(\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}) \in cat^{\Sigma_{n}}(Z^{(n)}),$$

e.g., see Remark 5.10. These Schur functors generalize the symmetric and alternating powers of  $\mathcal{F}$ , which correspond to the trivial and resp. sign representation. Note that, by using (19), we get an alternative description of the equivariant classes

$$cl_*^{\Sigma_n}(\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}) \in H_*^{\Sigma_n}(Z^{(n)}) \cong H_*(Z^{(n)}) \otimes C(\Sigma_n) \hookrightarrow H_*(Z^{(n)}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}[p_i, i \geq 1]$$

in terms of the Schur functions  $s_{\mu}:=ch_F(V_{\mu})\in\mathbb{Q}[p_i,i\geq 1]$ , see [16][Ch.1, Sect.3 and Sect.7]:

(20) 
$$cl_*^{\Sigma_n}(\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}) = \sum_{\mu\dashv n} s_\mu \cdot cl_*(S_\mu(\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n})),$$

with  $cl_*(S_\mu(\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}))$  computed as in (17).

As a concrete example, for Z pure dimensional with coefficients given by the intersection cohomology Hodge module  $IC_Z^H$  on Z, the corresponding Schur functor  $S_\mu$  of  $\pi_{n*}IC_{Z^n}^H$  is given by the twisted intersection cohomology Hodge module  $S_\mu(\pi_{n*}IC_{Z^n}^H)=IC_{Z^{(n)}}^H(V_\mu)$  with twisted coefficients corresponding to the local system on the configuration space B(Z,n) of unordered n-tuples of distinct points in Z, induced from  $V_\mu$  by the group homomorphism  $\pi_1(B(Z,n))\to \Sigma_n$  (compare [20][p.293] and [22][Prop.3.5]). For Z projective and pure-dimensional, by taking the degrees in (17) for the

present choice of coefficients  $IC_Z^H$  and representation  $V_\mu$ , we obtain the following identity for the  $\chi_v$ -polynomial of the twisted intersection cohomology:

(21) 
$$\chi_{-y}(H^*(Z^{(n)}; IC_{Z^{(n)}}^H(V_{\mu})) = \sum_{\lambda = (k_1, k_2, \dots) + n} \frac{1}{z_{\lambda}} \chi_{\lambda}(V_{\mu}) \cdot \prod_{r \ge 1} \chi_{-y^r}(H^*(Z; IC_Z^H))^{k_r}.$$

In future works, the techniques and results obtained in this paper will be applied to:

- (a) cohomology representations of external and symmetric products, generalizing previous results of the authors from [20], see [21];
- (b) generating series formulae for the singular Todd classes  $td_*(\mathfrak{F}^{[n]})$  of tautological sheaves  $\mathfrak{F}^{[n]}$  (associated to a given  $\mathfrak{F} \in Coh(Z)$ ) on the Hilbert scheme  $Z^{[n]}$  of n points on a smooth quasi-projective algebraic surface Z.

**Acknowledgements.** The authors thank Toru Ohmoto for reading a first version of this paper and for pointing out connections to his work on orbifold Chern classes of symmetric products.

L. Maxim was partially supported by grants from NSF, NSA, by a grant of the Ministry of National Education, CNCS-UEFISCDI project number PN-II-ID-PCE-2012-4-0156, and by a fellowship from the Max-Planck-Institut für Mathematik, Bonn. J. Schürmann was supported by the SFB 878 "groups, geometry and actions".

## 2. Delocalized equivariant theories

In this section, we introduce the notion of delocalized equivariant theory of a G-space X (with G a finite group), associated to a covariant functor H with compatible cross-product. We also describe the corresponding restriction and induction functors, which will play an essential role in the subsequent sections of the paper.

For simplicity, all spaces in this paper are assumed to be complex quasi-projective, though many constructions in this section apply to other categories of spaces with a finite groups action (e.g., topological spaces or varieties over any base field). For such a variety X, consider an algebraic action  $G \times X \to X$  by a finite group G. For any  $g \in G$ , we let  $X^g$  denote the corresponding fixed point set. Let H be a covariant (with respect to isomorphisms) functor to abelian groups, with a compatible cross-product  $\boxtimes$  ( $\mathbb{Z}$ -linear in each variable), which is commutative, associative and with a unit  $1_{pt} \in H(pt)$ . As main examples used in this paper, we consider the following, with R a commutative ring with unit (e.g.,  $R = \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\mathbb{Q}$  or  $\mathbb{C}$ ):

- (1) the even degree Borel-Moore homology  $H_{ev}^{BM}(X)\otimes R$  of X with coefficients in R.
- (2) Chow groups  $CH_*(X) \otimes R$  with R-coefficients.
- (3) Grothendieck group of coherent sheaves  $K_0(Coh(X)) \otimes R$  with R-coefficients.

Other possible choice would be: usual R-homology in even degrees  $H_{ev}(X) \otimes R$ . Since in this section we only need functoriality with respect to isomorphisms, we could also work with cohomological theories, such as the even degree (compactly supported) R-cohomology  $H_{(c)}^{ev}(X) \otimes R$  or the Grothendieck group of algebraic vector bundles  $K^0(X) \otimes R$  with R-coefficients, as used in [27, 31]. In this case, the corresponding covariant transformation  $g_*$ , as used in this paper, is given by  $(g^*)^{-1}$ , the inverse of the induced pullback under g. If X is smooth, this fits with the following Poincaré duality isomorphisms:

(22) 
$$H_{ev}(X) \otimes R \cong H_c^{ev}(X) \otimes R$$
,  $H_{ev}^{BM}(X) \otimes R \cong H^{ev}(X) \otimes R$ ,  $K_0(Coh(X)) \otimes R \simeq K^0(X) \otimes R$ .

The disjoint union  $\bigsqcup_{g\in G}X^g$  admits an induced G-action by  $h:X^g\to X^{hgh^{-1}}$ , such that the canonical map

$$i: \bigsqcup_{g \in G} X^g \to X$$

defined by the inclusions of fixed point sets becomes G-equivariant. Therefore, G acts in a natural way on  $\bigoplus_{g \in G} H(X^g)$ .

**Definition 2.1.** The delocalized G-equivariant theory of X associated to H is the G-invariant subgroup of  $\bigoplus_{g \in G} H(X^g)$ , namely,

(23) 
$$H^{G}(X) := \left(\bigoplus_{g \in G} H(X^{g})\right)^{G}.$$

This theory is functorial for proper G-maps (resp. G-equivariant isomorphisms).

**Remark 2.2.** An equivalent interpretation of this delocalized G-equivariant theory  $H^G(X)$  of a G-space X can be obtained by breaking the summation on the right-hand side of (23) into conjugacy classes, i.e.,

(24) 
$$H^{G}(X) = \bigoplus_{(g)} \left( \bigoplus_{[h] \in G/Z_{G}(g)} h_{*} \left( H(X^{g})^{Z_{G}(g)} \right) \right) \cong \bigoplus_{(g)} H(X^{g})^{Z_{G}(g)},$$

where (g) is the conjugacy class and  $Z_G(g)$  is the centralizer of  $g \in G$ .

**Remark 2.3.** If X is smooth, then also all fixed-point sets  $X^g$  are smooth, so the classical Poincaré duality isomorphisms (22) induce similar duality isomorphisms

$$H_*^G(X) \cong H_G^*(X)$$

between the corresponding delocalized equivariant (co)homology theories.

Remark 2.4. If G acts trivially on X (e.g., X is a point), then

(25) 
$$H^G(X) \cong H(X) \otimes C(G),$$

where C(G) denotes the free abelian group of  $\mathbb{Z}$ -valued class functions on G (i.e., functions which are constant on the conjugacy classes of G).

Remark 2.5. If G is an abelian group, then:

(26) 
$$H^G(X) = \bigoplus_{g \in G} H(X^g)^G.$$

Let us next describe two functors which will be used later.

**Definition 2.6.** (Restriction functor)

Let X be a G-space, as before. For a subgroup K of G, the *restriction functor* from G to K,  $\operatorname{Res}_K^G$ , is the group homomorphism

$$\mathrm{Res}_K^G:H^G(X)\to H^K(X)$$

induced by restricting to the G-invariant part the projection

$$\bigoplus_{g \in G} H(X^g) \to \bigoplus_{g \in K} H(X^g).$$

Clearly,  $\mathrm{Res}_K^G$  is transitive with respect to subgroups, with  $\mathrm{Res}_G^G$  the identity homomorphism. In terms of fixed-point sets of conjugacy classes, i.e., with respect to the isomorphisms:

$$H^G(X) \cong \bigoplus_{(g)} H(X^g)^{Z_G(g)}, \qquad H^K(X) \cong \bigoplus_{(k)} H(X^k)^{Z_K(k)},$$

the restriction factor can be described explicitly as follows (compare with [31][p.4]): if  $g \in G$  is not conjugate by elements in G to any element in K, then  $\operatorname{Res}_K^G|_{H(X^g)^{Z_G(g)}} = 0$ ; otherwise, assume that g is conjugate by elements in G to  $k_1, \cdots, k_s \in K$  which have mutually different conjugacy classes in K: then  $H(X^g)^{Z_G(g)} \cong H(X^{k_i})^{Z_G(k_i)}$  for  $i=1,\cdots,s$ , and  $\operatorname{Res}_K^G|_{H(X^g)^{Z_G(g)}}$  is given by the direct sum of inclusions  $H(X^{k_i})^{Z_G(k_i)} \hookrightarrow H(X^{k_i})^{Z_K(k_i)}$ .

The following induction functor will be used in the Section 4 in the definition of Pontrjagin-type products.

# **Definition 2.7.** (Induction functor)

For a G-space X as before, and K a subgroup of G, the induction from K to G,  $\operatorname{Ind}_K^G$ , is the group homomorphism (compare with [27][p.9]):

(27) 
$$\operatorname{Ind}_{K}^{G} = \sum_{[g] \in G/K} g_{*}(-) : H^{K}(X) \to H^{G}(X),$$

where the summation is over K-cosets of G. In particular, on a G-invariant class (i.e., in the image of the restriction functor  $\mathrm{Res}_K^G$ ) this induction map is just multiplication by the index [G:K] of K in G. Note that  $\mathrm{Ind}_K^G$  is transitive for subgroups of G, with  $\mathrm{Ind}_G^G$  the identity homomorphism. In terms of fixed-point sets of conjugacy classes, this induction is given as follows (compare with [31][p.4]): for any conjugacy class (k) in K which intersects the conjugacy class (g) in G, we have

(28) 
$$\operatorname{Ind}_{K}^{G} = \sum_{[h] \in Z_{G}(k)/Z_{K}(k)} h_{*}(-) : H(X^{k})^{Z_{K}(k)} \to H(X^{k})^{Z_{G}(k)} \cong H(X^{g})^{Z_{G}(g)},$$

so on a G-invariant class this is just multiplication by the index  $[Z_G(k):Z_K(k)]$ .

Remark 2.8. In terms of the above induction functors, the identification (24) is given by:

$$\bigoplus_{(g)} \operatorname{Ind}_{Z_G(g)}^G : \bigoplus_{(g)} H(X^g)^{Z_G(g)} \to H^G(X),$$

where  $\operatorname{Ind}_{Z_G(g)}^G: H(X^g)^{Z_G(g)} \to H^G(X)$  is the restriction of  $\operatorname{Ind}_{Z_G(g)}^G$  to the direct summand

$$H(X^g)^{Z_G(g)} \hookrightarrow H^{Z_G(g)}(X)$$

coming from the  $Z_G(g)$ -equivariant direct summand  $H(X^g) \subset \bigoplus_{h \in Z_G(g)} H_*(X^h)$ .

**Remark 2.9.** Over a point space, the above functors reduce in many cases to the classical restriction and induction functors from the representation theory of finite groups.

2.1. Compatibilities with cross-product. Assume G acts on X, with  $g \in G$  and  $K \subset G$  a subgroup, and similarly for G' acting on X', with  $g' \in G'$  and  $K' \subset G'$  a subgroup. Then  $(X \times X')^{g \times g'} = X^g \times X'^{g'}$ ,  $Z_{G \times G'}(g \times g') = Z_G(g) \times Z_{G'}(g')$ , as well as  $G \times G'/K \times K' = G/K \times G'/K'$ , and similarly for the quotient of centralizers as above.

Then all products  $\boxtimes: H(X^g) \times H(X'^{g'}) \to H(X^g \times X'^{g'})$  induce by the functoriality of  $\boxtimes$  a corresponding commutative and associative cross-product

$$\boxtimes: H^G(X) \times H^{G'}(X') \to H^{G \times G'}(X \times X')$$

(with unit  $1_{pt} \in H^{\{id\}}(pt)$ , for  $\{id\}$  denoting the trivial group). Moreover, this product is compatible with the restriction and induction functors, i.e.,

(29) 
$$\operatorname{Ind}_{K\times K'}^{G\times G'}(-\boxtimes -) = \operatorname{Ind}_{K}^{G}(-)\boxtimes \operatorname{Ind}_{K'}^{G'}(-)$$

and

(30) 
$$\operatorname{Res}_{K\times K'}^{G\times G'}(-\boxtimes -) = \operatorname{Res}_{K}^{G}(-)\boxtimes \operatorname{Res}_{K'}^{G'}(-).$$

Finally, the above facts about cross-product and restriction functors can be used to define a pairing:

$$C(G) \times H^G(X) \xrightarrow{\cdot} H^G(X)$$

by

$$H^G(pt) \times H^G(X) \xrightarrow{\boxtimes} H^{G \times G}(pt \times X) \xrightarrow{\text{Res}} H^G(X)$$

with  $pt \times X \cong X$ , and  $\operatorname{Res}$  denoting the restriction functor for the diagonal subgroup  $G \hookrightarrow G \times G$ .

**Remark 2.10.** The distinguished unit element  $id \in G$  gives the direct summand

$$H_{id}^G(X) := H(X)^G \subset H^G(X),$$

i.e., the G-invariant subgroup  $H(X)^G$  of H(X). This direct summand is compatible with restriction, induction and induced cross-products. If the functor H is also covariantly functorial for closed embeddings, we get a pushforward for the closed fixed point inclusions  $i_g: X^g \hookrightarrow X$ , i.e.,

$$i_{q*}: H(X^g) \to H(X),$$

and a group homomorohism

$$sum_G := \sum_{g} i_{g*} : H^G(X) \to H^G_{id}(X) = H(X)^G \subset H(X).$$

Note that this homomorphism commutes with induction and cross-products.

Remark 2.11. If X is smooth, the induction-restriction functors, as well as their compatibilities with cross-products are also compatible with Poincaré duality for (co)homology as in Remark 2.3.

## 3. Generating series for symmetric group actions on external products

In this section, we describe a very general generating series formula for symmetric group actions on external products, which should be regarded as a far-reaching generalization of a well-known identity of symmetric functions. In section 3.1, we give applications of this abstract generating series formula in the context of orbifold cohomology and resp. localized K-theory.

Let Z be a quasi-projective variety, with the symmetric group  $\Sigma_n$  acting on the cartesian product  $Z^n$  of  $n \geq 0$  copies of Z by the natural permutation action. For our generating series formula, it is important to look at all groups  $H^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n)$  simultaneously. Let

(31) 
$$\mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}(Z) := \bigoplus_{n \ge 0} H^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n) \cdot t^n$$

be the commutative graded Z-algebra (with unit) with product

$$\odot := \operatorname{Ind}_{\Sigma_n \times \Sigma_m}^{\Sigma_{n+m}} (\cdot \boxtimes \cdot)$$

induced from the external product by induction. Here,  $\bigoplus_{n\geq 0} H^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n)$  becomes a commutative graded ring with product  $\odot$ , and we view the completion  $\mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}(Z)$  as a subring of the formal power series ring  $\bigoplus_{n\geq 0} H^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n)[[t]]$ .

The algebra  $\overline{\mathbb{H}}^{\Sigma}(Z)$  is, in addition, endowed with *creation operators* 

$$\mathfrak{a}_r: H(Z) \to H^{\Sigma_r}(Z^r),$$

 $r\geq 1$ , which allow us to transport elements from H(Z) to the delocalized groups  $H^{\Sigma_r}(Z^r)$ . These are defined as follows: if  $\sigma_r=(r)$  is an r-cycle in  $\Sigma_r$ , then  $\mathfrak{a}_r$  is the composition

$$\mathfrak{a}_r: H(Z) \stackrel{\cdot r}{\to} H(Z) \cong H((Z^r)^{\sigma_r})^{Z_{\Sigma_r}(\sigma_r)} \hookrightarrow H^{\Sigma_r}(Z^r),$$

where  $\langle \sigma_r \rangle = Z_{\Sigma_r}(\sigma_r)$  acts trivially on  $(Z^r)^{\sigma_r}$ , and therefore also on  $H((Z^r)^{\sigma_r})$ . The role of multiplication by r in the definition of creation operator will become clear later on, e.g., in the proof of Theorem 3.1 below. The creation operator  $\mathfrak{a}_r$  can be re-written as

$$\mathfrak{a}_r := r \cdot \operatorname{Ind}_{\langle \sigma_r \rangle}^{\Sigma_r} \circ i_r,$$

with

$$i_r: H(Z) \simeq H((Z^r)^{\sigma_r})^{\langle \sigma_r \rangle} \subset H^{\langle \sigma_r \rangle}(Z^r).$$

Here, the last inclusion is just a direct summand, because  $\langle \sigma_r \rangle$  is abelian. In the following we omit to mention  $i_r$  explicitly.

Let  $\sigma \in \Sigma_n$  have cycle partition  $\lambda = (k_1, k_2, \cdots)$ , i.e.,  $k_r$  is the number of length r cycles in  $\sigma$  and  $n = \sum_r r \cdot k_r$ . Then

$$(Z^n)^{\sigma} \simeq \prod_r ((Z^r)^{\sigma_r})^{k_r} \simeq \prod_r \Delta_r(Z)^{k_r} \simeq Z^{k_1 + k_2 + \cdots}$$

where  $\sigma_r$  denotes as above a cycle of length r in  $\Sigma_n$ , and  $\Delta_r(Z)$  is the diagonal in  $Z^r$ , i.e., the image of the diagonal map  $\Delta_r:Z\to Z^r$ .

Let us now choose a sequence  $\underline{b}=(b_1,b_2,\cdots)$  of elements  $b_r\in H(Z)$ ,  $r\geq 1$ , and associate to a conjugacy class represented by  $\sigma\in \Sigma_n$  of type  $(k_1,k_2,\cdots)$  the element  $\underline{b}^{(\sigma)}\in H^{\Sigma_n}(X^n)$  corresponding to

$$\boxtimes_r (b_r)^{\boxtimes k_r} \in H(\prod_r Z^{k_r}) \simeq H((Z^n)^{\sigma}),$$

as it will be explained below. Recall that  $Z_{\Sigma_n}(\sigma)$  is a product over r of semidirect products of  $\Sigma_{k_r}$  with  $\langle \sigma_r \rangle^{k_r}$ , that is,

(32) 
$$Z_{\Sigma_n}(\sigma) \cong \prod_r \Sigma_{k_r} \ltimes \mathbb{Z}_r^{k_r}$$

(with  $\sigma_r$  denoting as before an r-cycle). The group  $\mathbb{Z}_r^{k_r} \cong \langle \sigma_r \rangle^{k_r}$  acts trivially on  $Z^{k_r}$ , whereas  $\Sigma_{k_r}$  permutes the corresponding Z-factors of  $Z^{k_r}$  (compare [31][p.8]). By commutativity and associativity of the cross-product  $\boxtimes$ , it follows that  $\boxtimes_r (b_r)^{\boxtimes k_r}$  is invariant under  $Z_{\Sigma_n}(\sigma)$ , so it indeed defines an element

(33) 
$$\underline{b}^{(\sigma)} = \operatorname{Ind}_{Z_{\Sigma_n}(\sigma)}^{\Sigma_n} \left( \boxtimes_r (b_r)^{\boxtimes k_r} \right) \in H^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n),$$

with induction defined as in Remark 2.8. Moreover, for  $\sigma \in \Sigma_n$  and  $\sigma' \in \Sigma_m$ , we have:

(34) 
$$\underline{b}^{(\sigma)} \odot \underline{b}^{(\sigma')} = \underline{b}^{(\sigma \times \sigma')} \in H^{\Sigma_{n+m}}(Z^{n+m}).$$

In what follows, we assume that the functor H takes values in R-modules, with R a commutative  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra (otherwise, work with  $\mathbb{H}^\Sigma(Z)\otimes R$ ). It follows that  $\mathbb{H}^\Sigma(Z)$  is also a commutative graded  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra. Note that one can also switch between covariant and contravariant notions, e.g. between homology and cohomology by Poincaré duality, if X is smooth.

The main result of this section is the following generating series formula:

**Theorem 3.1.** With the above notations, the following generating series formula holds in the  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra  $\mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}(Z)$ :

(35) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} \left( \sum_{(\sigma)\in(\Sigma_n)_*} \underline{b}^{(\sigma)} \right) \cdot t^n = \exp\left( \sum_{r\geq 1} \mathfrak{a}_r(b_r) \cdot \frac{t^r}{r} \right),$$

where  $(\Sigma_n)_*$  denotes the set of conjugacy classes of  $\Sigma_n$ .

*Proof.* We have the following string of equalities in the  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra  $(\mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}(Z), \odot)$ :

(36) 
$$\exp\left(\sum_{r=1}^{\infty} x_r \frac{t^r}{r}\right) = \prod_{r=1}^{\infty} \exp\left(x_r \frac{t^r}{r}\right)$$

$$= \prod_{r=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k_r=0}^{\infty} \left(x_r \frac{t^r}{r}\right)^{k_r} \frac{1}{k_r!}$$

$$= \sum_{N \ge 0} \sum_{k_1, \dots, k_N} \frac{x_1^{k_1} \dots x_N^{k_N}}{k_1! \dots k_N!} \prod_{r=1}^{N} \left(\frac{t^r}{r}\right)^{k_r}$$

$$= \sum_{N \ge 0} \sum_{k_1, \dots, k_N} \frac{x_1^{k_1} \dots x_N^{k_N}}{k_1! \dots k_N!} \frac{t^{k_1 + 2k_2 + \dots + Nk_N}}{1^{k_1} \dots N^{k_N}}$$

$$= \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} t^m \sum_{k_1 + 2k_2 + \dots + Nk_N = m} \frac{x_1^{k_1} \dots x_N^{k_N}}{k_1! \dots k_N! 1^{k_1} \dots N^{k_N}}$$

$$= \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} t^m \sum_{k_1 + 2k_2 + \dots + Nk_N = m} \prod_{r=1}^{N} \frac{x_r^{k_r}}{k_r! r^{k_r}}$$

Note that the sum over  $k_1 + 2k_2 + \cdots Nk_N = m$  corresponds to a summation over the cycle classes  $(\sigma)$  in  $\Sigma_m$  given by  $\prod_r \sigma_r^{k_r}$ , for  $\sigma_r = (r)$  an r-cycle in  $\Sigma_r$ . In our case, we take:

$$x_r = \mathfrak{a}_r(b_r) = \operatorname{Ind}_{\langle \sigma_r \rangle}^{\Sigma_r}(r \cdot b_r).$$

All products (and powers) above are with respect to the multiplication  $\odot$  in  $\mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}(Z)$ , which is defined via cross-product and induction. In particular,

$$\prod_{r=1}^{N} (x_r)^{k_r} / r^{k_r} = \operatorname{Ind}_{\prod_r (\Sigma_r)^{k_r}}^{\Sigma_m} (\boxtimes_{r=1}^{N} (x_r)^{\boxtimes k_r} / r^{k_r}).$$

Moreover, by using the compatibility of induction with  $\boxtimes$ ,  $\mathbb{Z}$ -linearity and transitivity, we have:

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{\prod_r(\Sigma_r)^{k_r}}^{\Sigma_m}(\boxtimes_{r=1}^N(x_r)^{\boxtimes k_r}/r^{k_r}) = \operatorname{Ind}_{\prod_r\langle\sigma_r\rangle^{k_r}}^{\Sigma_m}(\boxtimes_r(b_r)^{\boxtimes k_r}) = \operatorname{Ind}_{Z_{\Sigma_m}(\sigma)}^{\Sigma_m} \circ \operatorname{Ind}_{\prod_r\langle\sigma_r\rangle^{k_r}}^{Z_{\Sigma_m}(\sigma)}(\boxtimes_r(b_r)^{\boxtimes k_r}),$$

where, as before,  $\sigma$  is a representative of the cycle type  $(k_1,k_2,\cdots)$ . But, as already mentioned,  $Z_{\Sigma_m(\sigma)}$  acts trivially on  $\boxtimes_r (b_r)^{\boxtimes k_r}$ , so  $\operatorname{Ind}_{\prod_r \langle \sigma_r \rangle^{k_r}}^{Z_{\Sigma_m(\sigma)}}$  is just multiplication by the index  $[Z_{\Sigma_m(\sigma)}:\prod_r \langle \sigma_r \rangle^{k_r}] = \prod_r k_r!$ .

Altogether, we get

$$\prod_{r=1}^{N} (x_r)^{k_r} / k_r! r^{k_r} = \underline{b}^{(\sigma)},$$

which finishes the proof.

- 3.1. **Examples.** Let us now explain some special cases of Theorem 3.1 in the cohomological language, which in some situations are already available in the literature. Our main applications, to equivariant characteristic classes for singular spaces, will be given later on, in Section 5.3, after we develop the necessary background.
- 3.1.1. Orbifold cohomology. Here we work with  $H(X) := H^{ev}(X) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ , the (even degree) rational cohomology functor. For X smooth, our notion of  $H^G(X)$  corresponds to the even degree orbifold cohomology  $H^{2*}_{\mathrm{orb}}(X/G)$ , as used for example in [27].

For Z a quasi-projective complex variety, and for a given  $\gamma \in H(Z)$ , let  $b_r := \gamma$ , for all  $r \geq 1$ . Then  $\underline{b}^{(\sigma)}$  corresponds to  $\gamma^{\boxtimes \ell(\sigma)} \in H((Z^n)^\sigma)$  for  $\sigma \in \Sigma_n$  of cycle type  $(k_1, k_2, \cdots)$ , and  $\ell(\sigma) := \sum_r k_r$  the length of the partition associated to  $\sigma$ . Following [27], we set:

(37) 
$$\eta_n(\gamma) := \sum_{(\sigma) \in (\Sigma_n)_*} \operatorname{Ind}_{Z_{\Sigma_n(\sigma)}}^{\Sigma_n} \left( \gamma^{\boxtimes \ell(\sigma)} \right) = \sum_{(\sigma) \in (\Sigma_n)_*} \underline{b}^{(\sigma)}.$$

Then our formula (35) specializes to the following result:

(38) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} \eta_n(\gamma) \cdot t^n = \exp\left(\sum_{r\geq 1} \mathfrak{a}_r(\gamma) \cdot \frac{t^r}{r}\right).$$

For X smooth, this fits with the formula stated after Definition 3.2 in [27]. However, our proof is purely formal, so it applies to any topological space, as well as to algebraic varieties with rational Chow groups for H.

3.1.2. Localized K-theory. Here we work with  $H(X) := K^0(X) \otimes \mathbb{C}$ , the complexified Grothendieck group of algebraic vector bundles on X. For a finite group G acting algebraically on a quasi-projective complex variety X, we define a localization map of Lefschetz-type

$$L^G:K^0_G(X)\longrightarrow H^G(X)$$

on the Grothendieck group of G-equivariant algebraic vector bundles as a direct sum of transformations:

$$L(g): [W] \in K^0_G(X) \mapsto [W|_{X^g}] \in K^0_{\langle g \rangle}(X^g) \simeq K^0(X^g) \otimes Rep_{\mathbb{C}}(\langle g \rangle) \mapsto K^0(X^g) \otimes \mathbb{C},$$

where the last map is induced by taking the trace against  $g \in G$ . Here,  $Rep_{\mathbb{C}}(\langle g \rangle)$  is the Grothendieck group of complex representations of the group  $\langle g \rangle$ , and the isomorphism in the above definition holds since  $\langle g \rangle$  acts trivially on the fixed-point  $X^g$  (e.g., this fact follows from [10][(1.3.4)], compare also [12]). Note that, by construction,  $L^G$  commutes with cross-products as in Section 2.1

For Z a quasi-projective complex variety and an algebraic vector bundle V on Z, we get the  $\Sigma_n$ -equivariant vector bundle  $V^{\boxtimes n}$  on  $Z^n$ . Let  $\sigma \in \Sigma_n$  be of cycle type  $(k_1, k_2, \cdots)$ . Then, by the multiplicativity of  $L(\sigma)$ , we get:

$$L(\sigma) = \boxtimes_r L(\sigma_r)^{\boxtimes k_r}.$$

So it suffices to understand the transformations  $L(\sigma_r)$ , for all r-cycles  $(r \ge 1)$ .

For  $\sigma_n = (n)$  an n-cycle, we have that

(39) 
$$L(\sigma_n)[V^{\boxtimes n}] = \psi_n(V) \in K^0(Z) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$$

under the identification  $(Z^n)^{\sigma_n} = \Delta_n(Z) \simeq Z$ , with

$$\Delta_n^*(V^{\boxtimes n}) = V^{\otimes n}.$$

Here  $\psi_n$  denotes the n-th Adams operation defined by Atiyah in the topological context [1] and e.g., Nori [24][Lem.3.2] in the algebraic geometric context. Note that we can work here with rational coefficients, since characters of symmetric groups are integer-valued.

If we choose  $b_r := \psi_r(V)$ , for all  $r \ge 1$ , our main formula (35) specializes to the following generating series identity:

(40) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} L^{\Sigma_n}(V^{\boxtimes n}) \cdot t^n = \exp\left(\sum_{r\geq 1} \mathfrak{a}_r(\psi_r(V)) \cdot \frac{t^r}{r}\right),$$

since, by multiplicativity and conjugacy invariance of  $L(\sigma)$ , we have that

$$L^{\Sigma_n}(V^{\boxtimes n}) = \sum_{(\sigma) \in (\Sigma_n)_*} \operatorname{Ind}_{Z_{\Sigma_n}(\sigma)}^{\Sigma_n} \left( \boxtimes_r L(\sigma_r)^{\boxtimes k_r} \right) = \sum_{(\sigma) \in (\Sigma_n)_*} \underline{b}^{(\sigma)}.$$

The same proof applies in the topological context, for topological K-theory, in which case we obtain a special situation (for G the identity group) of [30][Prop.4]. Note that [30] uses the identification  $L^G \otimes \mathbb{C} : K^0_G(X) \otimes \mathbb{C} \simeq H^G(X)$ .

Similarly, one can work with algebraic varieties over any base field of characteristic zero, with L(g) the corresponding Lefschetz transformation of Baum-Fulton-Quart [4].

3.1.3. Localized Grothendieck groups of constructible sheaves. Here we work with

$$H(X) := K_0(Constr(X)) \otimes \mathbb{C},$$

the complexified Grothendieck group of (algebraically) constructible sheaves of complex vector spaces. For a finite group G acting algebraically on a quasi-projective complex variety X, we define a localization map of Lefschetz-type

$$L^G: K_0^G(Constr(X)) \longrightarrow H^G(X)$$

on the Grothendieck group of G-equivariant (algebraically) constructible sheaves of complex vector spaces as a direct sum of transformations:

$$L(g): [\mathfrak{F}] \in K_0^G(Constr(X)) \mapsto [\mathfrak{F}|_{X^g}] \in K_0^{\langle g \rangle}(Constr(X^g))$$
  
$$\simeq K_0(Constr(X^g)) \otimes Rep_{\mathbb{C}}(\langle g \rangle) \mapsto K_0(Constr(X^g)) \otimes \mathbb{C},$$

where the last map is induced, as before, by taking the trace against  $g \in G$ . The isomorphism in the above definition holds since  $\langle g \rangle$  acts trivially on the fixed-point  $X^g$  and  $Constr(X^g)$  is an abelian  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear category (e.g., see as before [10][(1.3.4)], compare also [12]). Note that, by construction,  $L^G$  commutes as before with cross-products as in Section 2.1

For Z a quasi-projective complex variety and an (algebraically) constructible sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  on Z, we get the  $\Sigma_n$ -equivariant (algebraically) constructible sheaf  $\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}$  on  $Z^n$ . For  $\sigma_n=(n)$  an n-cycle, we have that

(41) 
$$L(\sigma_n)[\mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes n}] = \psi_n(V) \in K_0(Constr(Z)) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$$

under the identification  $(Z^n)^{\sigma_n} = \Delta_n(Z) \simeq Z$ , with

$$\Delta_n^*(\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}) = \mathcal{F}^{\otimes n}.$$

Here  $\psi_n$  denotes the *n*-th Adams operation of the pre-lambda ring structure on  $K_0(Constr(Z))$  induced from the symmetric monoidal tensor product  $\otimes$  of constructible sheaves, as in [20][Lem.2.1]. As before, we can work here with rational coefficients.

If we choose  $b_r := \psi_r(\mathfrak{F})$ , for all  $r \ge 1$ , our main formula (35) specializes as above to the following generating series identity:

(42) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} L^{\Sigma_n}(\mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes n}) \cdot t^n = \exp\left(\sum_{r\geq 1} \mathfrak{a}_r(\psi_r(\mathfrak{F})) \cdot \frac{t^r}{r}\right).$$

3.1.4. Frobenius character. Specializing to a point space X, the above localized theories for vector bundles and resp. constructible sheaves reduce to the classical character theory of a finite group G:

$$tr_G: Rep_{\mathbb{C}}(G) \longrightarrow C(G) \otimes \mathbb{C}$$

$$[V] \mapsto \{trace_g(V), g \in G\},$$

with  $Rep_{\mathbb{C}}(G)$  the Grothendieck group of complex representations of G, and C(G) the free abelian group of  $\mathbb{Z}$ -valued class functions on G. The trace  $trace_g$  is of course multiplicative and conjugacy invariant.

For symmetric groups, we can work again with rational coefficients, and get an algebra homomorphism

$$tr_{\Sigma}: Rep_{\mathbb{C}}(\Sigma) := \bigoplus_{n} Rep_{\mathbb{C}}(\Sigma_{n}) \longrightarrow C(\Sigma) \otimes \mathbb{Q} := \bigoplus_{n} C(\Sigma_{n}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$$

with respect to the classical induction product:  $\odot := \operatorname{Ind}_{\Sigma_n \times \Sigma_m}^{\Sigma_{n+m}}(\cdot \boxtimes \cdot)$  for representations and resp. characters, see e.g., [16][Ch.I,Sect.7]. This homomorphism can be composed with the *Frobenius character* 

$$ch_F: C(\Sigma) \otimes \mathbb{Q} := \bigoplus_n C(\Sigma_n) \otimes \mathbb{Q} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{Q}[p_i, i \geq 1] =: \Lambda \otimes \mathbb{Q}$$

to the graded ring of  $\mathbb{Q}$ -valued symmetric functions in infinitely many variables  $x_m$  ( $m \in \mathbb{N}$ ), with  $p_i := \sum_m x_m^i$  the i-th power sum function. On  $C(\Sigma_n) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ ,  $ch_F$  is defined by:

(43) 
$$ch_F(f) := \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{\sigma \in \Sigma_n} f(\sigma) \psi(\sigma),$$

with

$$\psi(\sigma) := \prod_r p_r^{k_r}$$

for  $\sigma$  of cycle type  $(k_1,k_2,\cdots)$ , e.g., see [16][Ch.I,Sect.7]. For example, if f is the indicator function of the conjugacy class of the n-cycle  $\sigma_n$  in  $\Sigma_n$ , then  $ch_F(f)=\frac{1}{n}p_n$  since  $n=|Z_{\Sigma_n}(\sigma_n)|$ . In particular, the creation operator  $\mathfrak{a}_r:\mathbb{Q}\to\mathbb{Q}[p_i,i\geq 1]=\Lambda\otimes\mathbb{Q}$  is (up to the Frobenius isomorphism) given

by multiplication with  $p_r$ , which also motivates the use of multiplication by r in the definition of our creation operator in Section 3.

If we choose  $b_r := 1 \in \mathbb{Q}$ , for all  $r \ge 1$ , our main formula (35) specializes to the well-known identity of symmetric functions (e.g., see the proof of [16][(2.14)]):

(44) 
$$H(t) := \sum_{n \ge 0} h_n t^n = \exp\left(\sum_{r \ge 1} p_r \cdot \frac{t^r}{r}\right),$$

with  $h_n = ch_F(1_{\Sigma_n})$  the *n*-th complete symmetric function (see [16][p.113]), and  $1_{\Sigma_n} := tr_{\Sigma_n}(triv_n)$  the identity character of the trivial representation  $triv_n$  of  $\Sigma_n$ .

# 4. (Equivariant) Pontrjagin rings for symmetric products

Let Z be a quasi-projective variety, and denote by  $Z^{(n)}$  its n-th symmetric product, i.e., the quotient of the product  $Z^n$  of n copies of Z by the natural action of the symmetric group on n elements,  $\Sigma_n$ . Let  $\pi_n: Z^n \to Z^{(n)}$  denote the natural projection map.

In this section, the functor H from Section 2 is required in addition to be covariant (at least) for *finite maps* such as  $\pi_n$  or the closed embedding  $i_\sigma:(Z^n)^\sigma\hookrightarrow Z^n$ , for  $\sigma\in\Sigma_n$ . We will carry over the assumption that H takes values in R-modules, with R a commutative  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra.

Besides  $\mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}(Z) := \bigoplus_{n \geq 0} H^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n) \cdot t^n$ , here we consider other structures of commutative graded  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra with units, defined in terms of symmetric and respectively external products of Z:

(a) On

$$\mathbb{PH}(Z) := \bigoplus_{n \geq 0} H(Z^{(n)}) \cdot t^n = \prod_{n \geq 0} H(Z^{(n)})$$

there is the Pontrjagin ring structure, with multiplication  $\odot$  induced from the maps

$$Z^{(n)} \times Z^{(m)} \to Z^{(m+n)}$$
.

see [9][Definition 1.1] for more details. Here,  $\bigoplus_{n\geq 0} H(Z^{(n)})$  becomes a commutative graded ring with product  $\odot$ , and we view the completion  $\mathbb{PH}(Z)$  as a subring of the formal power series ring  $\bigoplus_{n\geq 0} H(Z^{(n)})[[t]]$ .

(b) On

$$\mathbb{PH}^{\Sigma}(Z) := \bigoplus_{n \geq 0} H^{\Sigma_n}(Z^{(n)}) \cdot t^n \cong \bigoplus_{n \geq 0} \left( H(Z^{(n)}) \otimes C(\Sigma_n) \otimes \mathbb{Q} \right) \cdot t^n$$
$$\hookrightarrow \mathbb{PH}(Z) \otimes (C(\Sigma) \otimes \mathbb{Q})$$

there is a product induced from that of the Pontrjagin product in the H-factor and the induction product for class functions. Via the Frobenius character identification

$$ch_F: C(\Sigma) \otimes \mathbb{Q} \simeq \mathbb{Q}[p_i, i \geq 1],$$

we can also view  $\mathbb{PH}^{\Sigma}(Z)$  as a graded subalgebra of  $\mathbb{PH}(Z)\otimes\mathbb{Q}[p_i\ ,i\geq 1]$ , and with *i*-th power sum  $p_i$  regarded as a degree i variable.

(c) By Remark 2.10, the direct summand

$$\mathbb{H}_{id}^{\Sigma}(Z) := \bigoplus_{n \ge 0} H_{id}^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n) \cdot t^n \subset \mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}(Z)$$

corresponding to the identity component is a subring, so that

$$\bigoplus_{n\geq 0} sum_{\Sigma_n} : \mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}(Z) \longrightarrow \mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}_{id}(Z)$$

is a ring homomorphism. With respect to the Frobenius homomorphism, it is more natural to use the averaging homomorphisms  $av_n:=\frac{1}{n!}sum_{\Sigma_n}:H^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n)\to H^{\Sigma_n}_{id}(Z^n)$ . Then the graded group homomorphism

$$av := \bigoplus av_n : \mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}(Z) \to \mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}_{id}(Z)$$

becomes a graded algebra homomorphism if we introduce on  $\mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}_{id}(Z)$  the twisted product

$$\widetilde{\odot} := \frac{n!m!}{(n+m)!} \odot : H_{id}^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n) \times H_{id}^{\Sigma_m}(Z^m) \to H_{id}^{\Sigma_{n+m}}(Z^{n+m}).$$

With this twisted product, we also have a Frobenius-type ring homomorphism

$$av_F: \mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}(Z) \to \mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}_{id}(Z) \otimes \mathbb{Q}[p_i, i \geq 1]$$

given by

$$\frac{1}{n!} \sum_{\sigma \in \Sigma_n} i_{\sigma*} \cdot \psi(\sigma) : H^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n) \to H^{\Sigma_n}_{id}(Z^n) \otimes \mathbb{Q}[p_i, i \ge 1],$$

with  $\psi(\sigma)$  as in the Frobenius homomorphism  $ch_F$  of equation (43).

These structures are related by homomorphisms of commutative graded  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebras, fitting into the following commutative diagram:

$$(45) \qquad \mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}(Z) := \bigoplus_{n \geq 0} H^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n) \cdot t^n \xrightarrow{av_F} \mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}_{id}(Z) \otimes \mathbb{Q}[p_i, i \geq 1]$$

$$\downarrow^{\pi_* = \bigoplus_n \pi_{n_*}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\pi_* \otimes id}$$

$$\mathbb{PH}^{\Sigma}(Z) := \bigoplus_{n \geq 0} H^{\Sigma_n}(Z^{(n)}) \cdot t^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{PH}(Z) \otimes \mathbb{Q}[p_i, i \geq 1]$$

$$\downarrow^{\bigoplus_n \frac{1}{|\Sigma_n|} \sum_{\sigma} ev_{\sigma}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{p_i = 1}$$

$$\mathbb{PH}(Z) := \bigoplus_{n \geq 0} H(Z^{(n)}) \cdot t^n \xrightarrow{=} \mathbb{PH}(Z)$$

with  $ev_{\sigma}: C(\Sigma_n) \otimes \mathbb{Q} \to \mathbb{Q}$  the evaluation map at  $\sigma \in \Sigma_n$ .

Let  $d_r:=\pi_r\circ\Delta_r$  be the composition  $d_r:Z\to Z^r\to Z^{(r)}$  of the natural projection  $\pi_r:Z^r\to Z^{(r)}$  with the diagonal embedding  $\Delta_r:Z\to Z^r$ . Then the creation operator  $\mathfrak{a}_r$  satisfies the identities:

(46) 
$$\pi_{r*} \circ \mathfrak{a}_r = p_r \cdot d_{r*}, \quad av_F \circ \mathfrak{a}_r = p_r \cdot \Delta_{r*}, \quad \text{and} \quad av \circ \mathfrak{a}_r = \Delta_{r*}.$$

This generalizes the corresponding relation between  $a_r$  and  $p_r$  discussed at the end of Section 3.1.4.

**Remark 4.1.** Under the assumptions from the beginning of this section, the commutative diagram (45) is functorial in  $\mathbb{Z}$  for finite maps. If, moreover, the functor  $\mathbb{H}$  and the cross-product are functorial for proper morphisms, then (45) is also functorial for such morphisms. In particular, for  $\mathbb{Z}$  compact, we can push down our generating series formulae (such as (35)) to a point to obtain (equivariant) degree formulae. Finally, the diagram (45) is compatible with natural transformations of such functors.

4.1. Example: Contructible functions and Orbifold Chern classes. In this example, we explain how our main result of Theorem 3.1 can be used to reprove Ohmoto's generating series identities for canonical contructible functions ([26][Prop.3.9]) and orbifold Chern classes ([26][Thm.1.1]). These are generalized class versions of the celebrated Hirzebruch-Höfer (or Atiyah-Segal) formula for the orbifold Euler characteristic of symmetric products.

Let H be the functor F(-) of  $\mathbb{Q}$ -valued algebraically constructible functions, which is covariant for all morphisms, and with a compatible cross-product. Following Ohmoto's notations, for a fixed group A, let  $j_r(A)$  be the number of index r subgroups of A, which is assumed to be finite for all r. In the notations of Theorem 3.1, let

$$b_r := j_r(A) \cdot 1_Z \in F(Z).$$

Then

$$\underline{b}^{(\sigma)} = \operatorname{Ind}_{Z_{\Sigma_n}(\sigma)}^{\Sigma_n} \left( \boxtimes_r (j_r(A) \cdot 1_Z)^{\boxtimes k_r} \right) \in F^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n),$$

and the element

$$\mathbb{1}_{Z^n;\Sigma_n}^A := \sum_{(\sigma) \in (\Sigma_n)_*} \underline{b}^{(\sigma)} \in F^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n)$$

appearing on the left hand side of Equation (35) is a delocalized version of Ohmoto's canonical constructible function  $\mathbb{1}_{Z^n:\Sigma_n}^{(A)}$  of [26][Defn.2.2], in the sense that

$$av_n\left(\mathbb{1}_{Z^n;\Sigma_n}^A\right) = \mathbb{1}_{Z^n;\Sigma_n}^{(A)} \in F_{id}^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n).$$

This identification follows from [26][Lem.3.4]. (Note that Ohmoto's product in loc.cit. corresponds to our twisted product  $\widetilde{\odot}$ .) Then our main Theorem 3.1 yields the following identity:

(47) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} \mathbb{1}_{Z^n;\Sigma_n}^A \cdot t^n = \exp\left(\sum_{r\geq 1} \frac{j_r(A)}{r} t^r \cdot \mathfrak{a}_r(1_Z)\right) \in \mathbb{F}^{\Sigma}(Z).$$

By applying to (47) the ring homomorphism  $av: (\mathbb{F}^{\Sigma}(Z), \odot) \to (\mathbb{F}^{\Sigma}_{id}(Z), \widetilde{\odot})$ , we recover by (46) Ohmoto's generating series formula [26][Prop.3.9]:

(48) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} \, \mathbb{1}_{Z^n;\Sigma_n}^{(A)} \cdot t^n = \exp\left(\sum_{r\geq 1} \frac{j_r(A)}{r} t^r \cdot \Delta_{r*}(1_Z)\right).$$

Recall now that MacPherson's Chern class transformation (with rational coefficients)  $c_*: F(-) \to H_*(-) := H_{ev}^{BM}(-) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$  commutes with proper pushforward and cross-products. Applying  $c_*$  to equation (47) we obtain a new generating series:

(49) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} c_*(\mathbb{1}_{Z^n;\Sigma_n}^A) \cdot t^n = \exp\left(\sum_{r\geq 1} \frac{j_r(A)}{r} t^r \cdot \mathfrak{a}_r(c_*(1_Z))\right) \in \mathbb{F}^{\Sigma}(Z),$$

with  $c_*(\mathbbm{1}^A_{Z^n;\Sigma_n}) \in H^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n)$  a delocalized version of Ohmoto's orbifold Chern class  $c_*(\mathbbm{1}^{(A)}_{Z^n;\Sigma_n}) \in H^{\Sigma_n}_{id}(Z^n)$ . Ohmoto's formula [26][Thm.1.1] for orbifold Chern classes of symmetric products is obtained by applying  $c_*$  to (48), or equivalently, by applying av to (49).

If Z is projective, by taking the degrees  $deg\ c_*(\mathbb{1}^A_{Z^n;\Sigma_n})=deg\ c_*(\mathbb{1}^{(A)}_{Z^n;\Sigma_n})$  of the above characteristic class formulae one recovers generating series for orbifold-type Euler characteristics, see [26] for details and examples.

Finally, note that for  $A=\mathbb{Z}$  (hence  $j_r(A)=1$  for all r), we recover a special case (for  $cl_*=c_*$ and  $\mathfrak{F} = \mathbb{Q}_Z$ ) of Theorem 1.3 from the Introduction, via the identification:

$$c_*^{\Sigma_n}(\mathbb{Q}_Z^{\boxtimes n}) = c_*(\mathbb{1}_{Z^n:\Sigma_n}^{\mathbb{Z}}).$$

However, these orbifold classes are in general very different from the delocalized characteristic classes of the next section.

**Remark 4.2.** Instead of fixing the group A and the coefficients  $b_r = j_r(A) \cdot 1_Z \in F(Z)$ , one could also start with  $b_r = 1_Z$  for all r. Applying the Frobenius-type homomorphism  $av_F$  to the corresponding identity derived from our Theorem 3.1, we recover the above results in a uniform way by specializing  $p_r$ , for a given group A, to  $p_r = j_r(A)$  for all r.

5. Generating series for (equivariant) characteristic classes

In this section, we specialize our abstract generating series formula (35) in the framework of characteristic classes of singular varieties.

5.1. Characteristic classes of Lefschetz type. For a complex quasi-projective variety X, with an algebraic action  $G \times X \to X$  of a finite group G, let  $\pi: X \to X' := X/G$  be the quotient map. We denote generically by  $cat^G(X)$  a category of G-equivariant objects on X in the underlying category cat(X), see [20, 8]. From now on,  $H(X) := H_*(X)$  will be  $H_{ev}^{BM}(X) \otimes R$ , the even degree Borel-Moore homology of X with R-coefficients, for R a commutative  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebra, resp.  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra if G is a symmetric group. Note that H(-) is functorial for all proper maps, with a compatible cross-product (as used in the previous section).

Definition 5.1. An equivariant characteristic class transformation of Lefschetz type is a transformation

$$cl_*(-;g): K_0(cat^G(X)) \to H_*(X^g)$$

so that the following properties are satisfied:

- (1)  $cl_*(-;g)$  is covariant functorial for G-equivariant proper maps.
- (2)  $cl_*(-;g)$  is multiplicative under cross-product  $\boxtimes$ .
- (3) if X is a point space and cat(pt) is an abelian  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear category, then the category  $Vect_{\mathbb{C}}(G)$ of (finite-dimensional) complex G-representations is a subcategory of  $cat^G(pt)$  and  $cl_*(-;g)$ is a certain g-trace (as shall be explained later on), with  $cl_*(-;g) = trace_g$  on  $Rep_{\mathbb{C}}(G)$ .
- (4) if G acts trivially on X and cat(X) is an abelian  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear category, then

$$K_0(cat^G(X)) \simeq K_0(cat(X)) \otimes Rep_{\mathbb{C}}(G)$$

via the Schur functor decomposition as in (19), and

(50) 
$$cl_*(-;g) = cl_*(-) \otimes trace_g,$$

with  $cl_*(-)$  the corresponding non-equivariant characteristic class, as explained below. If G= $\Sigma_n$  is a symmetric group, it is enough to assume that cat(X) is an abelian  $\mathbb Q$ -linear category, with the category  $Vect_{\mathbb{Q}}(\Sigma_n)$  of rational  $\Sigma_n$ -representations a subcategory of  $cat^{\Sigma_n}(pt)$ .

**Remark 5.2.** For a subgroup K of G, with  $g \in K$ , we assume that such a transformation  $cl_*(-;g)$ of Lefschetz type commutes with the restriction functor  $\mathrm{Res}_K^G$ . Then  $cl_*(-;g)$  depends only on the action of the cyclic subgroup generated by g. In particular, if  $g=id_G$  is the identity of G, we can take K the identity subgroup  $\{id_G\}$  with  $\mathrm{Res}_{\{id_G\}}^G$  the forgetful functor

For: 
$$K_0(cat^G(X)) \to K_0(cat(X)),$$

so that  $cl_*(-;id_G) = cl_*(-)$  fits with a corresponding non-equivariant characteristic class.

**Remark 5.3.** The above assumptions about cross-product and restriction functors can be used to define a pairing:

$$Vect_{\mathbb{C}}(G) \times cat^{G}(X) \stackrel{\otimes}{\longrightarrow} cat^{G}(X)$$

by

$$cat^{G}(pt) \times cat^{G}(X) \xrightarrow{\boxtimes} cat^{G \times G}(pt \times X) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Res}} cat^{G}(X),$$

with  $pt \times X \cong X$ , and  $\operatorname{Res}$  denoting the restriction functor for the diagonal subgroup  $G \hookrightarrow G \times G$ . This induces a pairing

$$Rep_{\mathbb{C}}(G) \times K_0(cat^G(X)) \xrightarrow{\otimes} K_0(cat^G(X))$$

on the corresponding Grothendieck groups, such that

(51) 
$$cl_*(V \otimes \mathcal{F}; g) = trace_g(V) \cdot cl_*(\mathcal{F}; g)$$

for V a G-representation and  $\mathfrak{F} \in cat^G(X)$ . If G is the symmetric group, then the above holds also for rational representations.

Let us give some examples of equivariant characteristic class transformations of Lefschetz type.

# Example 5.4. Todd classes

Let X be a quasi-projective G-variety, and denote by  $K_0(Coh^G(X))$  the Grothendieck group of the abelian category  $Coh^G(X)$  of G-equivariant coherent algebraic sheaves on X. For each  $g \in G$ , the Lefschetz-Riemann-Roch transformation [4, 23]

(52) 
$$td_*(-;g): K_0(\operatorname{Coh}^G(X)) \longrightarrow H_*(X^g)$$

is of Lefschetz type with  $R:=\mathbb{C}$  (resp.  $R:=\mathbb{Q}$  if G is a symmetric group). Moreover,  $td_*(-;id_G)$  is the complexified (non-equivariant) Todd class transformation  $td_*$  of Baum-Fulton-MacPherson [3]. Over a point space, the transformation  $td_*(-;g)$  reduces to the g-trace on the corresponding G-equivariant vector space. In particular, if X is projective, by pushing down to a point we recover the equivariant holomorphic Euler characteristic, i.e., for  $\mathcal{F} \in Coh^G(X)$  the following degree formula holds:

$$\chi_a(X, \mathfrak{F}; g) := \sum_i (-1)^i trace \left( g | H^i(X; \mathfrak{F}) \right) = \int_{[X^g]} t d_*([\mathfrak{F}]; g).$$

# Example 5.5. Chern classes

Let  $K_0(Constr^G(X))$  be the Grothendieck group of the abelian category  $Constr^G(X)$  of algebraically constructible G-equivariant sheaves of complex vector spaces on X. Then the localized Chern class transformation [28][Ex.1.3.2]

$$c_*(-;g) := c_*(tr_g(-|_{X^g})) : K_0(\operatorname{Constr}^G(X)) \longrightarrow H_*(X^g)$$

is of Lefschetz type with  $R:=\mathbb{C}$  (resp.  $R:=\mathbb{Q}$  if G is a symmetric group). Here  $c_*(-)$  is the Chern-MacPherson class transformation [18], and  $tr_g(-|_{X^g})$  is the group homomorphism which, for  $\mathcal{F}\in Constr^G(X)$ , assigns to  $[\mathcal{F}]\in K_0(Constr^G(X))$  the constructible function on  $X^g$  defined by

$$x \mapsto trace(g|\mathcal{F}_x).$$

(Note that for  $x \in X^g$ , g acts on the finite dimensional stalk  $\mathcal{F}_x$  for a constructible G-equivariant sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$ .) For the identity element, the transformation  $c_*(-;g)$  reduces to the complexification of MacPherson's Chern class transformation. It also follows by definition that if X is a point space,

then  $c_*(-;g)$  reduces to the g-trace on the corresponding G-equivariant vector space. In particular, if X is projective, by pushing down to a point we recover the equivariant Euler characteristic, i.e., for  $\mathcal{F} \in Constr^G(X)$  the following degree formula holds:

$$\chi(X, \mathcal{F}; g) := \sum_{i} (-1)^{i} trace\left(g|H^{i}(X; \mathcal{F})\right) = \int_{[X^{g}]} c_{*}([\mathcal{F}]; g).$$

Example 5.6. (un-normalized) Atiyah-Singer classes – motivic version

Let  $K_0^G(var/X)$  be the relative Grothendieck group of G-equivariant quasi-projective varieties over X. The (un-normalized) Atiyah-Singer class transformation of [8],

$$T_{y*}(-;g): K_0^G(var/X) \longrightarrow H_*(X^g)$$

is of Lefschetz type with  $R=\mathbb{C}[y]$  (resp.  $R:=\mathbb{Q}[y]$  if G is a symmetric group). For the identity element of G, this reduces to the (un-normalized) motivic Hirzebruch class transformation of Brasselet-Schürmann-Yokura [5, 29]. Over a point space,  $T_{y*}(-;g)$  coincides with the equivariant  $\chi_y(-;g)$ -genus ring homomorphism

$$\chi_y(-;g): K_0^G(var/pt) \to \mathbb{C}[y]$$

defined by:

$$\chi_y([Z \to pt]; g) := \sum_{i,p} (-1)^i trace \left( g|Gr_F^p(H_c^i(Z) \otimes \mathbb{C}) \right) \cdot (-y)^p,$$

for  $F^*$  the Deligne-Hodge filtration on  $H_c^*(Z) \otimes \mathbb{C}$ , which is compatible with the algebraic G-action. In particular, if X is projective, by pushing down to a point we recover the equivariant Hodge genus studied in [7], i.e., the following degree formula holds (see [8][Prop.4.7]):

$$\chi_y(X;g) := \chi_y([X \to pt];g) = \int_{[X^g]} T_{y*}(X;g),$$

where  $T_{y*}(X;g) := T_{y*}([id_X];g)$  is the Atiyah-Singer class of X.

**Example 5.7.** (un-normalized) Atiyah-Singer classes – mixed Hodge module version Let  $K_0(MHM^G(X))$  be the Grothendieck group of G-equivariant (algebraic) mixed Hodge modules. The (un-normalized) Atiyah-Singer class transformation of [8],

$$T_{y*}(-;g):K_0(MHM^G(X))\longrightarrow H_*(X^g)$$

is of Lefschetz type with  $R=\mathbb{C}[y^{\pm 1}]$  (resp.  $R:=\mathbb{Q}[y^{\pm 1}]$  if G is a symmetric group). In this case, MHM(X) is only a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -linear abelian category, so for the isomorphism of Grothendieck groups in property (3) of Definition 5.1 one should assume that G is a symmetric group (or work with the Grothendieck group of the underlying  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear exact category of filtered holonomic  $\mathcal{D}$ -modules). For the identity element of G, this reduces to the mixed Hodge module version of the (un-normalized) Hirzebruch class transformation of Brasselet-Schürmann-Yokura [5,29]. Over a point space,  $T_{y*}(-;g)$  coincides with the equivariant  $\chi_y(-;g)$ -genus ring homomorphism

$$\chi_y(-;g):K_0^G(MHS^p)\to \mathbb{C}[y^{\pm 1}]$$

defined on the Grothendieck group of the category  $G-MHS^p$  of G-equivariant (graded) polarizable mixed Hodge structures, by:

$$\chi_y([H];g) := \sum_p trace\left(g|Gr_F^p(H\otimes \mathbb{C})\right)\cdot (-y)^p,$$

for  $F^{\star}$  the Hodge filtration on  $H \in G-MHS^p$ . Here we use the identification  $MHM^G(pt) \simeq G-MHS^p$  of G-equivariant mixed Hodge modules over a point space with G-equivariant (graded) polarizable mixed Hodge structures, so that the category of (finite-dimensional) rational G-representations is a subcategory of  $G-MHS^p$  (viewed as mixed Hodge structure of pure type (0,0)). In particular, if X is projective and  $\mathcal{M} \in MHM^G(X)$ ), by pushing down to a point we recover the equivariant twisted Hodge genus, i.e., the following degree formula holds (see [8][Prop.4.7] for  $\mathcal{M}$  the intersection cohomology mixed Hodge module):

$$\chi_y(X, \mathcal{M}; g) := \sum_{i, p} (-1)^i trace \left( g | Gr_F^p H^i(X; \mathcal{M}) \otimes \mathbb{C} \right) \cdot (-y)^p = \int_{[X^g]} T_{y*}(\mathcal{M}; g).$$

Remark 5.8. The motivic version of the Atiyah-Singer class transformation can be deduced from the corresponding mixed Hodge module version through the natural transformation (e.g., see [8])

$$\chi^G_{\mathrm{Hdg}}: K_0^G(var/X) \to K_0(MHM^G(X))$$

mapping  $[id_X]$  to the class of the constant Hodge module (complex)  $[\mathbb{Q}_X^H]$ . This transformation commutes with push downs, cross-products and restriction functors. Then the (un-normalized) motivic Atiyah-Singer class transformation can be factored as

$$T_{y*}(-;g): K_0^G(var/X) \xrightarrow{\chi_{\mathrm{Hdg}}^G} K_0(MHM^G(X)) \xrightarrow{T_{y*}(-;g)} H_*(X^g).$$

In particular, the Atiyah-Singer class of X can be described as

$$T_{y*}(X;g) := T_{y*}([id_X];g) = T_{y*}([\mathbb{Q}_X^H];g).$$

Let us explain the above examples in the simplest situation when X is smooth (see [8] for complete details). Then  $X^g$  is also smooth, and we denote by  $T_{X^g}$  and  $N_{X^g}$  its tangent and resp. normal bundle in X. In this case, the homological Leschetz-type transformations correspond under Poincaré duality (and for suitable "smooth" coefficients in  $cat^G(X)$ ) to similar cohomological transformations, as explained below.

**Todd classes.** Let  $K_G^0(X)$  be the Grothendieck group of algebraic G-vector bundles, and note that the natural map  $K_G^0(X) \to K_0(\operatorname{Coh}^G(X))$  is an isomorphism. Let  $\operatorname{ch}^*$  and  $\operatorname{td}^*$  denote the Chern character and resp. the Todd class in cohomology. The Lefschetz-Riemann-Roch transformation is then given by: for V an algebraic G-vector bundle on X,

(53) 
$$td_*(V;g) = ch^*(g)(V|_{X^g}) \cap \left(\frac{td^*(T_{X^g})}{ch^*(g)(\Lambda_{-1}N_{X^g}^*)} \cap [X^g]\right).$$

Here,  $N_{X^g}^*$  denotes the dual of the normal bundle of  $X^g$ , and for a vector bundle E we let  $\Lambda_{-1}(E):=\sum_i (-1)^i \Lambda^i E$ . Moreover, the equivariant Chern character  $ch^*(g)(-):K_G^0(X^g)\to H^*(X^g)$  is defined as follows: for  $W\in K_G^0(X^g)$  we let

$$ch^*(g)(W) := \sum_{\chi} \chi(g) \cdot ch^*(W_{\chi}),$$

for  $W\simeq \oplus_\chi W_\chi$  the (finite) decomposition of W into sub-bundles  $W_\chi$  on which g acts by a character  $\chi:\langle g\rangle\to\mathbb{C}^*$ . Note that  $ch^*(g)(V|_{X^g})$  is just the complexified Chern character of L(g)(V), with L(g) the Lefschetz-type transformation of Section 3.1.2. If X is projective, by taking degrees in formula (53) we obtain the Atiyah-Singer holomorphic Lefschetz formula from [2, 15].

Chern classes. For  $\mathcal{L} \in Loc^G(X)$  a G-equivariant local system on a quasi-projective manifold Xwith connected fixed point set  $X^g$ , we have:

(54) 
$$c_*(\mathcal{L};g) = trace(g|\mathcal{L}_x) \cdot c^*(T_{X^g}) \cap [X^g],$$

with  $\mathcal{L}_x$  denoting the stalk of  $\mathcal{L}$  at some point  $x \in X^g$ . If  $X^g$  is not connected, then  $c_*(\mathcal{L};g)$  is computed by summing up terms as in the above expression, one for each connected component of  $X^g$ .

Atiyah-Singer classes, motivic version. If X is smooth, then we have:

(55) 
$$T_{y*}(X;g) := T_{y*}([id_X];g) = \sum_{i \ge 0} td_*([\Omega_X^i];g) \cdot y^i,$$

with  $\Omega^i_X$  the sheaf of holomorphic *i*-forms on X. More generally, if  $f:Y\to X$  is a proper G-morphism with Y smooth, we get by functoriality:

(56) 
$$T_{y*}([f:Y\to X];g) = \sum_{i>0} td_*(f_*[\Omega_Y^i];g) \cdot y^i,$$

with  $f_*[\Omega^i_Y] := \sum_j (-1)^j [R^j f_* \Omega^i_Y] \in K_0(\operatorname{Coh}^G(X))$ . Examples of such maps are given by resolutions of singularities and proper submersions of smooth varieties.

Atiyah-Singer classes, mixed Hodge module version. Let X be smooth with an algebraic Gaction, together with a G-equivariant "good" variation  $\mathcal{L}$  of rational mixed Hodge structures (i.e., graded polarizable, admissible and with quasi-unipotent monodromy at infinity). This corresponds to a (shifted) smooth G-equivariant mixed Hodge module. Let  $\mathcal{V}:=\mathcal{L}\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}}\mathfrak{O}_X$  be the flat G-equivariant bundle whose sheaf of horizontal sections is  $\mathcal{L} \otimes \mathbb{C}$ . The bundle  $\mathcal{V}$  comes equipped with a decreasing (Hodge) filtration (compatible with the G-action) by holomorphic sub-bundles  $\mathcal{F}^p\mathcal{V}$ . Note that since we work with a "good" variation, each  $\mathcal{F}^p\mathcal{V}$  underlies (by GAGA) a unique complex algebraic G-vector bundle. Let

$$\chi_y(\mathcal{V}) := \sum_p \left[ \operatorname{Gr}_{\mathfrak{F}}^p \mathcal{V} \right] \cdot (-y)^p \in K_G^0(X)[y, y^{-1}]$$

be the  $\chi_y$ -characteristic of  $\mathcal{V}$ . Then:

(57) 
$$T_{y_*}(X, \mathcal{L}; g) = ch^*(g)(\chi_y(\mathcal{V})|_{X^g}) \cap T_{y_*}(X; g).$$

with  $T_{y*}(X;g)$  the Atiyah-Singer class of X, as before

Our generating series results for these characteristic class transformations, as discussed in the next sections will, however, be valid for any quasi-projective complex variety X (possibly singular) and all coefficients in  $cat^G(X)$ .

5.2. Delocalized equivariant characteristic classes. Let X be a (possibly singular) quasi-projective variety acted upon by a finite group G of algebraic automorphisms.

From now on, we use the symbol  $cl_*$  to denote any of the characteristic classes  $c_*$ ,  $td_*$  and  $T_{y*}$ , respectively, with their corresponding equivariant versions of Lefschetz type,  $cl_*(-;g):K_0(cat^G(X))\to$  $H_*(X^g)$ , as discussed in the previous section.

**Definition 5.9.** For any of the Lefschetz-type characteristic class transformations  $cl_*(-;g)$  considered above, we define a corresponding G-equivariant class transformation

$$cl_*^G: K_0(cat^G(X)) \to H_*^G(X)$$

by:

$$cl_*^G(-) := \bigoplus_{g \in G} cl_*(-;g) = \bigoplus_{(g)} \operatorname{Ind}_{Z_G(g)}^G \left( cl_*(-;g) \right) \in \left( \bigoplus_{g \in G} H_*(X^g) \right)^G,$$

with induction as in Remark 2.8

Note that the G-invariance of the class  $cl_*^G(-)$  is a consequence of conjugacy invariance of  $cl_*(-;g)$ , proved in [8][Sect.5.3.]. This also explains the equality of the two descriptions of  $cl_*^G(-)$ .

The above transformation  $cl_*^G(-)$  has the same properties as the Lefschetz-type transformations  $cl_*(-;g)$ , e.g., functoriality for proper push-downs, restrictions to subgroups, and multiplicativity for exterior products.

If X is projective, then by pushing  $cl_*^G(-)$  down to a point, the degree

$$deg(cl_*^G(-)) = tr_G(X, -) := tr_G(H^*(X, -)) \in C(G) \otimes R$$

is the character  $tr_G$  of the corresponding virtual cohomology representation

$$\sum_{i} (-1)^{i} [H^{i}(X, -)] \in Rep_{\mathbb{C}}(G) \otimes R \simeq C(G) \otimes R.$$

More precisely,

- $deg\left(td_*^G(\mathfrak{F})\right)=tr_G(X,\mathfrak{F}):=tr_G(H^*(X,\mathfrak{F}))$ , for  $\mathfrak{F}\in Coh(X)$ ,
- $deg\left(c_*^G(\mathcal{F})\right) = tr_G(X, \mathcal{F}) := tr_G(H^*(X, \mathcal{F})), \text{ for } \mathcal{F} \in Constr(X),$   $deg\left(T_{y*}^G([\mathcal{M}])\right) = tr_G(X, \mathcal{M}) := \sum_p tr_G(Gr_F^pH^*(X, \mathcal{M}))(-y)^p, \text{ for } \mathcal{M} \in MHM(X).$

If G acts trivially on X, then there is a functor

$$[-]^G: K_0(cat^G(X)) \to K_0(cat(X))$$

defined by taking G-invariants, which for any of the  $\mathbb{Q}$ -linear abelian categories Coh(X), Constr(X)and MHM(X) is induced from the exact projector

$$(-)^G := \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} \mu_g : cat^G(X) \to cat(X).$$

Here  $\mu_g: \mathcal{F} \to g_*\mathcal{F}$  (with  $g \in G$ ) is the isomorphism of the G-action on  $\mathcal{F} \in cat^G(X)$ , see [8, 20] for

**Remark 5.10.** For a given G-representation V, by using the pairing of Remark 5.3 one can define Schur functors  $S_V : cat^G(X) \to cat(X)$  by  $S_V(\mathfrak{F}) := (V \otimes \mathfrak{F})^G$ . Here we assume that G acts trivially on X. This notion agrees with the abstract categorical definition from [10, 14].

For the Grothendieck group  $K_0^G(var/X)$  of G-varieties over X, the functor

$$[-]^G: K_0^G(var/X) \to K_0(var/X)$$

is given by:  $[Y \to X] \mapsto [Y/G \to X]$ . This is a well-defined functor since our equivariant Grothendieck group  $K_0^G(var/X)$  from [8] only uses the scissor relation. Note that the transformation

$$\chi_{\mathrm{Hdg}}^G: K_0^G(var/X) \to K_0(MHM^G(X))$$

relating the two versions of the Atiyah-Singer transformation, commutes with  $[-]^G$  since, for  $\pi:Y\to Y/G$  denoting the quotient map, we have that (cf. [8][Lem.5.3], but see also [19][Rem.2.4])

$$\mathbb{Q}_{Y/G}^H = (\pi_* \mathbb{Q}_Y^H)^G \in D^b MHM(Y/G).$$

Then if G acts trivially on X, the following averaging property holds by the definition of the projector  $(-)^G$  together with (50) (compare also with [8][Sect.5.3], [9][Sect.3]):

(58) 
$$K_0(cat^G(X)) \xrightarrow{cl_*^G} H_*^G(X) \cong H_*(X) \otimes C(G)$$

$$[-]^G \downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} ev_g$$

$$K_0(cat(X)) \xrightarrow{cl_*} H_*(X),$$

where  $ev_q$  is the evaluation at  $g \in G$  of class functions on G.

5.3. **Generating series for (equivariant) characteristic classes.** In this section, we apply the above formalism for obtaining refined generating series for equivariant characteristic classes of external and symmetric products of complex quasi-projective varieties.

Let Z be a quasi-projective variety, and denote by  $Z^{(n)}$  its n-th symmetric product, with  $\pi_n:Z^n\to Z^{(n)}$  the natural projection map. The standard approach for computing invariants of  $Z^{(n)}$  is to collect the respective invariants of all symmetric products in a generating series, and to compute the latter solely in terms of invariants of Z, e.g., see [9] and the references therein. Here we obtain a generalization of results of [9], formulated in terms of equivariant characteristic classes of external products of varieties.

In what follows, we start with a given object  $\mathcal{F} \in cat(Z)$  in a certain category, e.g., coherent or constructible sheaves, or mixed Hodge modules on Z (resp., morphisms  $f:Y\to Z$  in the motivic context), and attach to it a new object as follows (see [9, 19, 20] for details):

- (a) the  $\Sigma_n$ -equivariant object  $\mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes n}\in cat^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n)$  on the cartesian product  $Z^n$  (e.g.,  $f^n:Y^n\to Z^n$  in the motivic context).
- (b) the  $\Sigma_n$ -equivariant object  $\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}\in cat^{\Sigma_n}(Z^{(n)})$  on the symmetric product  $Z^{(n)}$  (e.g., the  $\Sigma_n$ -equivariant map  $Y^n\to Z^{(n)}$  in the motivic context).
- (c) the following non-equivariant objects in  $cat(Z^{(n)})$ :
  - (1) the n-th symmetric power object  $\mathfrak{F}^{(n)}:=\left(\pi_{n*}\mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes n}\right)^{\Sigma_n}$  on  $Z^{(n)}$ , defined by using the projector  $(-)^{\Sigma_n}$  onto the  $\Sigma_n$ -invariant part (respectively, the map  $f^{(n)}:Y^{(n)}\to Z^{(n)}$  induced by dividing out the  $\Sigma_n$ -action in the motivic context).
  - induced by dividing out the  $\Sigma_n$ -action in the motivic context). (2) the n-th alternating power object  $\mathcal{F}^{\{n\}}:=\left(\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}\right)^{sign-\Sigma_n}$  on  $Z^{(n)}$ , defined by using the alternating projector  $(-)^{sign-\Sigma_n}:=\frac{1}{n!}\sum_{\sigma\in\Sigma_n}(-1)^{sign(\sigma)}\mu_\sigma$ , for  $sign:\Sigma_n\to\{\pm 1\}$  the sign character. (This definition does not apply to the motivic context.)
  - (3)  $For(\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n})$ , obtained by forgetting the  $\Sigma_n$ -action on  $\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n} \in cat^{\Sigma_n}(Z^{(n)})$  (e.g., the induced map  $Y^n \to Z^{(n)}$  in the motivic context).

Remark 5.11. All these constructions also apply to a bounded complex  $\mathcal{F}$  in  $D^b_{coh}(Z)$ , resp.  $D^b_c(Z)$ , with coherent, respectively constructible cohomology, as well as to bounded complexes (such as  $\mathbb{Q}^H_Z$ ) in  $D^b(MHM(Z))$ . Then  $\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}$  and  $\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}$  become weakly equivariant  $\Sigma_n$ -complexes (as in [8][Appendix]), which still have well-defined Grothendieck classes  $[\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}] \in K_0(cat^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n))$ , resp.,  $[\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}] \in K_0(cat^{\Sigma_n}(Z^n))$ . Moreover, the definition of the symmetric and resp. alternating power

objects via the projector  $[-]^{\Sigma_n}$  and resp.  $[-]^{sign-\Sigma_n}$  still works as above since the corresponding derived categories are Q-linear Karoubian (see [9, 20] for more details). Then the proof of the following results equally applies to such complexes.

We use as before the symbol

$$cl_*: K_0(cat(Z)) \to H_*(Z) = H_{2*}^{BM}(Z) \otimes R$$

to denote any of the following characteristic classes

- $td_*: K_0(Coh(Z)) \rightarrow H_{2*}^{BM}(Z) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ ,  $c_*: K_0(Constr(Z)) \rightarrow H_{2*}^{BM}(Z) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ ,  $T_{y*}: K_0(var/Z) \rightarrow H_{2*}^{BM}(Z) \otimes \mathbb{Q}[y]$ ,  $T_{y*}: K_0(MHM(Z)) \rightarrow H_{2*}^{BM}(Z) \otimes \mathbb{Q}[y^{\pm 1}]$ ,

with their corresponding localized and delocalized equivariant versions  $cl_*(-;g)$  and resp.  $cl_*^G(-)$ , as discussed in the previous two subsections.

In each of three situations (a)-(c) above, the corresponding generating series formula will make use of the following operators which allow us to transport homology classes from Z into the corresponding commutative graded  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebras of Pontrjagin type  $\mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}_{*}(Z)$ ,  $\mathbb{PH}^{\Sigma}_{*}(Z)$  and resp.  $\mathbb{PH}_{*}(Z)$  defined in Section 4:

(a) the creation operator  $\mathfrak{a}_r$  defined as before by: if  $\sigma_r = (r)$  is an r-cycle in  $\Sigma_r$ , then  $\mathfrak{a}_r$  is the composition:

$$\mathfrak{a}_r: H_*(Z) \stackrel{\cdot r}{\to} H_*(Z) \cong H_*((Z^r)^{\sigma_r})^{Z_{\Sigma_r}(\sigma_r)} \hookrightarrow H_*^{\Sigma_r}(Z^r),$$

where  $\langle \sigma_r \rangle = Z_{\Sigma_r}(\sigma_r)$  acts trivially on  $H_*((Z^r)^{\sigma_r})$ .

- (b)  $p_r \cdot d_{r*}: H_*(Z) \to H_*(Z^{(r)}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}[p_i, i \geq 1]$ , where  $d_r := \pi_r \circ \Delta_r$  is the composition  $d_r:Z o Z^r o Z^{(r)}$  of the natural projection  $\pi_r$  with the diagonal embedding  $\Delta_r$ .
- (c)  $d_{r*}: H_*(Z) \to H_*(Z^{(r)}).$

Recall that the creation operator  $a_r$  satisfies the identity:

$$\pi_{r*} \circ \mathfrak{a}_r = p_r \cdot d_{r*}.$$

The following properties will allow us to further specialize our main generating series formula (35) in the context of characteristic classes.

It follows from [9] that  $cl_*(-;g)$  satisfies the following multiplicativity property (see [9][Lemma 3.2, Lemma 3.5, Lemma 3.9]):

## Lemma 5.12. (Multiplicativity)

If  $\sigma \in \Sigma_n$  has cycle-type  $(k_1, k_2, \cdots)$ , i.e.,  $k_r$  is the number of r-cycles in  $\sigma$  and  $n = \sum_r r \cdot k_r$ , then:

$$(59) cl_*(\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}; \sigma) = \boxtimes_r \left( cl_*(\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes r}; \sigma_r) \right)^{k_r} \in H_*((Z^n)^{\sigma})^{Z_{\Sigma_n}(\sigma)} \subset H_*((Z^n)^{\sigma}),$$

with  $\sigma_r$  denoting an r-cycle in  $\Sigma_r$ .

Moreover, the following localization result holds, see [9][Lemma 3.3, Lemma 3.6, Lemma 3.10]:

## Lemma 5.13. (Localization)

Under the identification  $(Z^r)^{\sigma_r} \simeq Z$ , the following holds:

(60) 
$$cl_*(\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes r}; \sigma_r) = \Psi_r cl_*(\mathcal{F}),$$

where  $\Psi_r$  denotes the homological Adams operation defined by

$$\Psi_r = \begin{cases} id & \text{if } cl_* = c_* \\ \frac{1}{r^i} \text{ on } H_{2i}^{BM}(Z) \otimes \mathbb{Q} & \text{if } cl_* = td_* \\ \frac{1}{r^i} \text{ on } H_{2i}^{BM}(Z) \otimes \mathbb{Q}, \text{ and } y \mapsto y^r & \text{if } cl_* = T_{-y*}. \end{cases}$$

Note that in the last case of the localization formula (60) it is important to work with  $cl_* := T_{-y*}$ , i.e., with the parameter -y and the un-normalized version of the Hirzebruch class and its equivariant analogues. This will also be the case in all of the following generating series formulae.

The main result of this section is a generalization of the main formula of [9].

**Theorem 5.14.** The following generating series formula holds in the commutative graded  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra  $\mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}_*(Z) := \bigoplus_{n \geq 0} H^{\Sigma_n}_*(Z^n) \cdot t^n$ , if  $cl_*$  is either  $td_*$ ,  $c_*$  or  $T_{-y*}$ :

(61) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} cl_*^{\Sigma_n}(\mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes n}) \cdot t^n = \exp\left(\sum_{r\geq 1} \mathfrak{a}_r(\Psi_r(cl_*(\mathfrak{F})) \cdot \frac{t^r}{r}\right).$$

*Proof.* For any  $r \geq 1$ , let  $b_r := cl_*(\mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes r}; \sigma_r) \in H_*(Z)$ . By multiplicativity (cf. Lemma 5.12) and conjugacy invariance of  $cl_*(-;\sigma)$ , it follows that

$$cl_*^{\Sigma_n}(\mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes n}) = \sum_{(\sigma) \in (\Sigma_n)_*} \operatorname{Ind}_{Z_{\Sigma_n(\sigma)}}^{\Sigma_n} \left( \boxtimes_r cl_*(\mathfrak{F}^{\boxtimes r}; \sigma_r)^{\boxtimes k_r} \right) = \sum_{(\sigma) \in (\Sigma_n)_*} \underline{b}^{(\sigma)}.$$

Then (61) follows from our main formula (35) together with the localization formula (60).  $\Box$ 

Let us now apply  $\pi_* := \bigoplus_n \pi_{n*}$  to formula (61). Then, by using functoriality and the corresponding  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra homomorphism  $\pi_* : \mathbb{H}^{\Sigma}_*(Z) \to \mathbb{PH}^{\Sigma}_*(Z)$  of (45), we obtain by (46) the following characteristic class version of [12][Proposition 5.4]:

**Corollary 5.15.** The following generating series formula holds in the commutative graded  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra  $\mathbb{PH}^{\Sigma}_*(Z) := \bigoplus_{n \geq 0} H^{\Sigma_n}_*(Z^{(n)}) \cdot t^n \hookrightarrow \mathbb{PH}_*(Z) \otimes \mathbb{Q}[p_i, i \geq 1]$ :

(62) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} cl_*^{\Sigma_n}(\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}) \cdot t^n = \exp\left(\sum_{r\geq 1} p_r \cdot d_{r*}(\psi_r(cl_*(\mathcal{F}))) \cdot \frac{t^r}{r}\right).$$

In particular, if Z is projective, then by taking degrees, we get (in the notations of the previous section) the following generating series for the characters of virtual  $\Sigma_n$ -representations of  $H^*(Z^n;\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n})$  in case  $\mathcal F$  is a coherent or constructible sheaf, i.e.,

(63) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} tr_{\Sigma_n}(Z^n; \mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}) \cdot t^n = \exp\left(\sum_{r\geq 1} p_r \cdot \chi(H^*(Z, \mathcal{F})) \cdot \frac{t^r}{r}\right) \in \mathbb{Q}[p_i, i \geq 1][[t]],$$

with  $\chi$  denoting the corresponding Euler characteristic. Similarly, for Z projective and  $\mathfrak{M}$  a mixed Hodge module on Z, we get:

(64) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} tr_{\Sigma_n}(Z^n; \mathcal{M}^{\boxtimes n}) \cdot t^n = \exp\left(\sum_{r\geq 1} p_r \cdot \chi_{-y^r}(H^*(Z, \mathcal{M})) \cdot \frac{t^r}{r}\right) \in \mathbb{Q}[y^{\pm 1}, p_i, i \geq 1][[t]],$$

with  $\chi_y(H^*(Z,\mathcal{M})) = \chi_y(Z,\mathcal{M};id)$  denoting the corresponding  $\chi_y$ -polynomial.

Back to characteristic classes, the averaging property (58) together with the  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra evaluation homomorphism  $\mathbb{PH}_*(Z) \otimes \mathbb{Q}[p_i, i \geq 1] \to \mathbb{PH}_*(Z)$ ,  $p_i \mapsto 1$  (for all i), as in (45), now yield the main result of [9], namely:

**Corollary 5.16.** The following generating series formula holds in the Pontrjagin ring  $\mathbb{PH}_*(Z) := \bigoplus_{n>0} H_*(Z^{(n)}) \cdot t^n$ :

(65) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} cl_*(\mathcal{F}^{(n)}) \cdot t^n = \exp\left(\sum_{r\geq 1} d_{r*}(\psi_r(cl_*(\mathcal{F})) \cdot \frac{t^r}{r}\right).$$

In particular, if Z is projective, we recover the degree formulae from [9], which can now be also derived from (63) and (64) by specializing all  $p_i$ 's to 1.

To this end, we want to emphasize that Corollary 5.15 has other important applications, as follows. The  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra evaluation homomorphism

$$\mathbb{PH}_*(Z) \otimes \mathbb{Q}[p_i, i \geq 1] \to \mathbb{PH}_*(Z), \ p_i \mapsto sign(\sigma_i) = (-1)^{i-1}$$

(for all i), together with the commutative diagram:

$$(66) K_0(cat^{\Sigma_n}(Z^{(n)})) \xrightarrow{cl_*^{\Sigma_n}} H_*^{\Sigma_n}(Z^{(n)}) \cong H_*(Z^{(n)}) \otimes C(\Sigma_n)$$

$$\downarrow^{\frac{1}{n!} \sum_{\sigma \in \Sigma_n} sign(\sigma) \cdot ev_{\sigma}}$$

$$K_0(cat(Z^{(n)})) \xrightarrow{cl_*} H_*(Z^{(n)}),$$

yield the following new generating series formula for the characteristic classes of the alternating objects of  $\mathfrak{F}$ :

**Corollary 5.17.** The following generating series formula holds in the Pontrjagin ring  $\mathbb{PH}_*(Z)$ :

(67) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} cl_*(\mathcal{F}^{\{n\}}) \cdot t^n = \exp\left(-\sum_{r\geq 1} d_{r*}(\psi_r(cl_*(\mathcal{F})) \cdot \frac{(-t)^r}{r}\right).$$

In particular, if Z is projective, we recover special cases of the main formulae from [20][Cor.1.5], which can now be also derived from (63) and (64) by specializing the  $p_i$ 's to  $(-1)^{i-1}$ . For example, if  $cl_* = T_{-y*}$  and  $\mathcal{F} = \mathbb{Q}_Z^H$ , we recover the generating series formula for the degrees

$$deg(T_{-y*}(\mathbb{Q}_Z^{H^{\{n\}}})) = \chi_{-y}(H_c^*(B(Z, n), \epsilon_n)),$$

where  $B(Z,n) \subset Z^{(n)}$  is the *configuration space* of unordered n-tuples of distinct points in Z, and  $\epsilon_n$  is the rank-one local system on B(Z,n) corresponding to a sign representation of  $\pi_1(B(Z,n))$  as in [20][p.293], compare also with [13][Ex.3b] and [12][Cor.5.7].

Let us also consider the Q-algebra evaluation homomorphism

$$\mathbb{PH}_*(Z) \otimes \mathbb{Q}[p_i, i \geq 1] \to \mathbb{PH}_*(Z)$$

$$p_1 \mapsto 1 \text{ and } p_i \mapsto 0, i \geq 2,$$

corresponding to the evaluation homomorphisms (for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ):

$$\frac{1}{n!}ev_{id} = \frac{1}{n!}\operatorname{Res}_{\{id\}}^{\Sigma_n} : H_*^{\Sigma_n}(Z^{(n)}) \longrightarrow H_*(Z^{(n)}).$$

Then Corollary 5.15 specializes to the following exponential generating series formula:

**Corollary 5.18.** The following generating series formula holds in the Pontrjagin ring  $\mathbb{PH}_*(Z)$ :

(68) 
$$\sum_{n>0} cl_*(For(\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n})) \cdot \frac{t^n}{n!} = \exp\left(t \cdot cl_*(\mathcal{F})\right).$$

Note that (68) also follows directly from functoriality and multiplicativity properties of  $cl_*$ . If Z is projective, then by taking degrees we get exponential generating series formulae for the Euler characteristic and resp.  $\chi_y$ -polynomial of  $H^*(Z^n, \mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes})$ . For example, if  $cl_* = T_{-y*}$  and  $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{M}$  is a mixed Hodge module on Z, we get:

(69) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} \chi_{-y}(Z^n, \mathfrak{M}^{\boxtimes n}) \cdot \frac{t^n}{n!} = \exp\Big(t \cdot \chi_{-y}(Z, \mathfrak{M})\Big),$$

which also follows directly from the Künneth formula, e.g., see [19].

Finally, formula (14) from the Introduction follows by combining the multiplicativity of (51), together with the identification of the coefficient of  $t^n$  in the explicit expansion (as in the proof of Theorem 3.1) of the exponential on the right-hand side of (62), that is,

(70) 
$$cl_*^{\Sigma_n}(\pi_{n*}\mathcal{F}^{\boxtimes n}) = \sum_{\lambda = (k_1, k_2, \dots) \dashv n} \frac{p_\lambda}{z_\lambda} \cdot \bigodot_{r \geq 1} (d_{r*}(\psi_r(cl_*(\mathcal{F})))^{k_r}.$$

#### References

- [1] M. F. Atiyah, Power operations in K-theory, Quart. J. Math. 17 (1966), 165-193.
- [2] M. F. Atiyah, I. M. Singer, The index of elliptic operators, III., Ann. of Math. 87 (1968), 564-604.
- [3] P. Baum, W. Fulton, R. MacPherson, *Riemann-Roch for singular varieties*, Publ. Math. I.H.E.S. **45**, 101–145 (1975).
- [4] P. Baum, W. Fulton, G. Quart, Lefschetz-Riemann-Roch for singular varieties, Acta Math. 143 (1979), no. 3-4, 193-211.
- [5] J.-P. Brasselet, J. Schürmann, S. Yokura, Hirzebruch classes and motivic Chern classes of singular spaces, J. Topol. Anal. 2 (2010), no. 1, 1–55.
- [6] D. Bergh, The Binomial Theorem and motivic classes of universal quasi-split tori, arXiv:1409:5410.
- [7] S. Cappell, L. Maxim, J. Shaneson, Equivariant genera of complex algebraic varieties, Int. Math. Res. Not. Vol. 2009, No. 11, pp. 2013–2037.
- [8] S. Cappell, L. Maxim, J. Schürmann, J. Shaneson, *Equivariant characteristic classes of complex algebraic varieties*, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. **65** (2012), no. 12, 1722–1769.
- [9] S. Cappell, L. Maxim, J. Schürmann, J. Shaneson, S. Yokura, *Characteristic classes of symmetric products of complex quasi-projective varieties*, J. Reine Angew. Math. (to appear), arXiv:1008.4299.
- [10] P. Deligne, Catégories tensorielles, Mosc. Math. J. 2 (2002), 227-248.
- [11] D. Edidin, W. Graham, Riemann-Roch for equivariant Chow groups, Duke Math. J. 102 (2000), no. 3, 567-594.
- [12] E. Getzler, Mixed Hodge structures on configuration spaces, arXiv:math/9510018.
- [13] E. Gorsky, Adams operations and power structures, Mosc. Math. J. 9 (2009), no. 2, 305-323.
- [14] F. Heinloth, A note on functional equations for zeta functions with values in Chow motives, Annales de L'Inst. Fourier **57** (2007), 1927–1945.
- [15] F. Hirzebruch, D. Zagier, The Atiyah-Singer theorem and elementary number theory, Mathematics Lecture Series, No. 3. Publish or Perish, Inc., Boston, Mass., 1974.
- [16] I. G. Macdonald, *Symmetric functions and Hall polynomials*. Oxford Mathematical Monographs. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1979.
- [17] I. G. Macdonald, The Poincaré polynomial of a symmetric product, Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 58, 1962, 563 - 568.
- [18] R. MacPherson, Chern classes for singular algebraic varieties, Ann. of Math. 100 (1974), 423-432.

- [19] L. Maxim, M. Saito, J. Schürmann, Symmetric products of mixed Hodge modules, J. Math. Pures Appl. 96 (2011), no. 5, 462–483.
- [20] L. Maxim, J. Schürmann, Twisted genera of symmetric products, Selecta Math. (N.S.) 18 (2012), no. 1, 283–317.
- [21] L. Maxim, J. Schürmann, Cohomology representations of external symmetric products of varieties, arXiv:1602.06546
- [22] S. Meinhardt, M. Reineke, Donaldson-Thomas invariants versus intersection cohomology of quiver moduli, arXiv:1411.4062.
- [23] B. Moonen, *Das Lefschetz-Riemann-Roch-Theorem für singuläre Varietäten*, Bonner Mathematische Schriften **106** (1978), viii+223 pp.
- [24] M. Nori, The Hirzebruch-Riemann-Roch theorem, Michigan Math. J. 48 (2000), 473-482.
- [25] T. Ohmoto, Equivariant Chern classes of singular algebraic varieties with group actions, Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 140 (2006), no. 1, 115–134.
- [26] T. Ohmoto, Generating functions of orbifold Chern classes. I. Symmetric products, Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 144 (2008), no. 2, 423–438.
- [27] Z. Qin, W. Wang, *Hilbert schemes and symmetric products: a dictionary*, Orbifolds in mathematics and physics (Madison, WI, 2001), 233–257, Contemp. Math., **310**, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2002.
- [28] J. Schürmann, A general construction of partial Grothendieck transformations, arXiv:math/0209299.
- [29] J. Schürmann, Characteristic classes of mixed Hodge modules, in Topology of Stratified Spaces, MSRI Publications 58, Cambridge University Press (2011), pp. 419–471.
- [30] W. Wang, Equivariant K-theory, wreath products, and Heisenberg Algebra, Duke Math. J. 103 (2000), no. 1, 1–23.
- [31] J. Zhou, Delocalized equivariant cohomology of symmetric products, arXiv:math/9910028.
- L. Maxim: Department of Mathematics, University of Wisconsin-Madison, 480 Lincoln Drive, Madison, WI 53706, USA

E-mail address: maxim@math.wisc.edu

J. Schürmann: Mathematische Institut, Universität Münster, Einsteinstr. 62, 48149 Münster, Germany.

E-mail address: jschuerm@math.uni-muenster.de